BOARD OF ANIMAL SERVICES COMMISSIONERS
CITY OF LOS ANGELES

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
Tuesday, December 13, 2016
7:00 P.M.

Hollenbeck Community Police Station
2111 E. 1 Street
Los Angeles, CA 90033

DAVID ZAFT
President

LARRY GROSS
Vice-President

ALISA FINSTEN
OLIVIA E. GARCIA
ROGER WOLFSON

Sign language interpreters, assistive listening devices, or other auxiliary aids and/or services
may be provided upon request. To ensure availability, you are advised to make your request at
least 72 hours prior to the meeting you wish to attend. For information please call (213) 482-
9558.

Si requiere servicios de traduccion, favor de hacer pedido con 24 horas de anticipo al (213)
482-9558.

. REGULAR COMMISSION MEETING

1. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD - (Comments from the public on items of public interest
within the Board’s subject matter jurisdiction that are not on the Agenda; two minutes
per speaker.)

Public Comments: The Brown Act prohibits the Board and staff from responding to the
speakers' comments. Some of the matters raised in public comment may appear on a future
agenda.

2. NEIGHBORHOOD COUNCIL COMMENTS - (Discussion with Neighborhood Council
representatives on Neighborhood Council Resolutions or Community Impact
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Statements filed with the City Clerk which relate to any agenda item listed or being
considered on this agenda for the Board of Animal Services Commissioners)

3. COMMISSION BUSINESS

A. Approval of the Minutes for Meeting of November 8, 2016 (Action Item; Public
comment limited to one minute per speaker):

B. Approval of 2017 Board Meeting Schedule (Action item; public comment limited to
one minute per speaker):

4. ORAL REPORT OF THE GENERAL MANAGER (Public comment limited to one
minute per speaker):

5. COMMISSIONERS’ ORAL REPORTS AND FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS (Public
comment limited to one minute per speaker):

6. BOARD REPORTS

A. Staff Report re Strategic Planning Process Following 2016 Community, Staff and
Stakeholder Meetings. (Public comment limited to one minute per speaker.)

B. Board Report on Northeast Valley Animal Shelter —Extension of Current Contract
and Award of New Contract. (Action item; public comment limited to two minute
per speaker.)

7. ADJOURNMENT

Next Regular Meeting is scheduled for 10:00 A.M. January 10, 2017 at City Hall 200 North
Spring Street, Room 1060, Los Angeles, California 90012. (Enter on Main Street).

AGENDAS - The Board of Animal Services Commissioners (Board) meets regularly every second (2nd) and fourth
(41 Tuesday of each month at 10:00 A.M. Regular Meetings are held at City Hall, 200 North Spring Street, Room
1060, in Los Angeles, CA 90012. Evening Meetings are held in various locations throughout the City, from 7:00 to
approximately 9:30 P.M. The agendas for Board meetings contain a brief general description of those items to be
considered at the meetings. Board Agendas are available at the Department of Animal Services (Department),
Administrative Division, 221 North Figueroa Street, 6 Floor, Suite 600, Los Angeles, CA 90012. Board Agendas
may also be viewed on the 2 floor Public Bulletin Board in City Hall East, 200 North Main Street, Los Angeles, CA
90012. Internet users may also access copies of present and prior agenda items, copies of the Board Calendar, MP-
3 audio files of meetings as well as electronic copies of approved minutes on the Department's World Wide Web
Home Page site at http://www.laanimalservices.com/CommissionAgendas.htm

Three (3) members of the Board constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. Some items on the Agenda
may be approved without any discussion.

The Board Secretary will announce the items to be considered by the Board. The Board will hear the presentation on
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the topic and gather additional information from Department Staff. Once presentations have finished, the Board
President will ask if any Board Member or member of the public wishes to speak on one or more of these items. Each
speaker called before the Commission will have one (1) minute to express their comments and concerns on matters
placed on the agenda. (For certain agenda items, speakers will have two (2) minutes.)

PUBLIC INPUT AT BOARD MEETINGS - Public Participation on Agenda Items. Members of the public will have
an opportunity to address the Board on agenda items after the item is called and before the Board takes action on the
item, unless the opportunity for public participation on the item was previously provided to all interested members of
the public at a public meeting of a Committee of the Board and the item has not substantially changed since the
Committee heard the item. When speaking to an agenda item other than during Public Comment (see Public
Comment below), the speaker shall limit his or her comments to the specific item under consideration (California
Government Code, Section 54954.3).

Public Comment. The Board will provide an opportunity for public comment at every regular meeting of the Board.
Members of the public may address the Board on any items within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board as part
of Public Comment.

Speaker Cards. Members of the public wishing to speak are to fill out one speaker card for each agenda item on
which they wish to speak and present it to the Board secretary before the item is called.

Time Limit for Speakers. Speakers addressing the Board will be limited to one (1) minute of speaking time for each
agenda item except during general public comment period which is limited to two (2) minutes per speaker. (For
certain agenda items, speakers will have two (2) minutes each.). The Chairperson, with the approval of a majority of
the Board, may for good cause extend any speaker’s time by increments of up to one (1) minute.

Brown Act. These rules shall be interpreted in a manner that is consistent with the Ralph M. Brown Act, California
Government Code Section § 54950 et seq.

STANDARDS OF CONDUCT. Speakers are expected to behave in an orderly manner and to refrain from personal
attacks or use of profanity or language that may incite violence.

All persons present at Board meetings are expected to behave in an orderly manner and to refrain from disrupting the
meeting, interfering with the rights of others to address the Board and/or interfering with the conduct of business by
the Board.

In the event that any speaker does not comply with the foregoing requirements, or if a speaker does not address the
specific item under consideration, the speaker may be ruled out of order, their speaking time forfeited and the
Chairperson may call upon the next speaker.

The Board, by majority vote, may order the removal from the meeting of any speaker or audience member continuing
to behave in a disruptive manner after being warned by the Chairperson regarding their behavior. Section 403 of the
California Penal Code states as follows: “Every person who, without authority of law, willfully disturbs or breaks up
any assembly or meeting that is not unlawful in its character, other than an assembly or meeting referred to in
Section 302 of the Penal Code or Section 18340 of the Elections Code, is guilty of a misdemeanor.”

VOTING AND DISPOSITION OF ITEMS — Most items require a majority vote of the entire membership of the Board
(3 members). When debate on an item is completed, the Board President will instruct the Secretary to "call the roll".

Please join us at our website: www.LAAnimalservices.com
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Every member present must vote for or against each item; abstentions are not permitted unless there is a Conflict of
Interest for which the Board member is obliged to abstain from voting. The Secretary will announce the votes on each
item. Any member of the Board may move to "reconsider" any vote on any item on the agenda, except to adjourn,
suspend the Rules, or where an intervening event has deprived the Board of jurisdiction, providing that said member
originally voted on the prevailing side of the item. The motion to "reconsider” shall only be in order once during the
meeting, and once during the next regular meeting. The member requesting reconsideration shall identify for all
members present the Agenda number and subject matter previously voted upon. A motion to reconsider is not
debatable and shall require an affirmative vote of three members of the Board.

When the Board has failed by sufficient votes to approve or reject an item, and has not lost jurisdiction over the
matter, or has not caused it to be continued beyond the next regular meeting, the issue is again placed on the next
agenda for the following meeting for the purpose of allowing the Board to again vote on the matter.

Please join us at our website: www.LAAnimalservices.com
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MINUTES
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 8, 2016 10:00 AM ANIMAL

SERVICES

REGULAR MEETING
LOS ANGELES CITY HALL, ROOM 1060
200 NORTH SPRING STREET
LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA 90012

Audio MP-3 Recording is available at www.laanimalservices.com

David Zaft, President
Larry Gross, Vice-President
Alisa Finsten
Olivia E. Garcia
Roger Wolfson

Meeting called to order at 10:15 a.m. Commissioners present were Zaft, Gross, Finsten,
Wolfson arrived late and Garcia arrived late. Also present from Los Angeles Animal
Services (LAAS) Board Secretary Regina Gallegos; General Manager (GM) Brenda
Barnette and Assistant City Attorney (ACA) Dov Lesel.

Commissioner Zaft opened the meeting and provided an overview of the meeting
agenda.

Commissioner Gross discussed the appeal hearing process and conducted the
hearings.

I.  ADMINISTRATIVE APPEALS

1. Dangerous Animal Revocation Case: DR 162143 EV (Decision continue from10/11/16)
Respondent: Doris McClerkin and Malvin McClerkin
East Valley Animal Care and Control: Captain Karen Knipscheer-Cox
Complaining Witness: Alma Guerrero (taken out of order after item 1.2.)

Commissioner Gross stated case DR 162143 EV was continued to determine
whether “Riley” is a dangerous dog and whether the owners have the ability to
own dogs. There were terms and conditions from a previous incident; “Riley” has
since passed away. Commissioner Zaft mentioned that the supplemental
analysis on Dangerous Dogs cases from the Department was exceptionally
useful to the Commission. There were many factors that supported that the
animal was dangerous.

Commissioner Wolfson made a motion to deny the appeal and uphold the
General Manager’s decision. Commissioner Zaft seconded the motion and it
was approved by a vote of 3-0.
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2.

Dangerous Animal Revocation Case: DR 156018 EV (Decision continued from
10/11/16)

Respondent: Anthony Rey Lopez and Michelle Lee Oliveros Rey
East Valley Animal Care and Control: Captain Karen Knipscheer-Cox

Complaining Witness: East Valley Animal Care and Control (taken out of order;
heard first)

Commissioner Gross stated case DR 156018EV has been continued based on
receiving information on the terms and conditions and whether or not the
license will be reinstated. The Respondents gave an update that their dogs are
current with rabies shots, neutered, licenses, microchips. The dogs have been
placed on renters insurance; the gate in the backyard has been altered. The
Respondents expressed that “Lucky” is being retained at the shelter and is up for
adoption; requested waiver on charges; no issue with putting muzzle on dogs.
Commissioner Zaft specified that the findings were the dog not declared
dangerous. The Respondents stated that the dogs are in training with the
exception of “Lucky”. Commissioner Gross asked the Respondents if they
have provided the information to the Department. Respondents stated that
the East Valley shelter did not want to discuss the case or any information with
the Respondents. However, the shelter updated the information.
Commissioner Zaft proposed to the Assistant City Attorney and Assistant
General Manager to plan a meeting with the Respondents; insure “Lucky” is not
up for adoption; need to get a report from the Department. ACA Lesel asked the
Respondents when the dog training will be complete. The Respondents stated 4-
6 weeks.

Commissioner Zaft made a motion to grant the appeal; reserve the
determination and request that licenses are reinstated subject to the terms and
conditions that were previously impose with the change that the requirement for
dog training be completed by Dec 31, 2016. In addition, fees for “Lucky” not
include fees acquired since October 11, 2016. Commissioner Finsten
seconded the motion and it was approved by a vote of 3-0.

Dangerous Animal Case: DA 161175 WLA

Respondent: Gabriel Perez, Joseph Perez and Nicole Perez

West Los Angeles Animal Care and Control:

Complaining Witness: Shohreh Marviz (taken out of order after item 1.1.)

Testimony was taken from the Respondents Attorney, Linda Lucero, who stated
that the evidence did not support the General Manager’'s decision. Ms. Lucero
stated that the Victim/Plaintiff was unable to describe and/or identify the dogs
that allegedly attacked her. There was no blood on the dogs evidencing any
such attack. In addition, the plaintiff refused to answer questions on cross
examination. Commissioner Zaft stated that there was testimony the witness
recognized the two white dogs. Commissioner Gross mentioned that the
Respondents have conceded their dogs escape the property. The Witness
Attorney, Benjamin Smith expressed that he was concerned with the

Please join us at our website: www.LAAnimalservices.com
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Respondents dogs; dogs are still with the owners. There was substantial
testimony. The Respondents dog has attacked my client in the past. A neighbor
testified she returned the dogs to the Respondents 150 times; there is no excuse.
Commissioner Zaft stated there is evidence (testimony) from the withesses
and police officer. Commissioner Gross mentioned there were witnesses that
saw the large dogs attack the two smaller dogs. Ms. Lucero stated that the
hearing officer was bias and there is no sufficient evidence.

Commissioner Wolfson made a motion to deny the appeal and uphold the
General Manager’s decision. Commissioner Finsten seconded the motion and
it was approved by a vote of 5-0.

REGULAR COMMISSION MEETING

1. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD- (Comments from the public on items of public
interest within the Board’s subject matter jurisdiction that are not on the
Agenda; two minutes per speaker.)

Phyllis Daugherty gave a DVD to the Commissioners and Department on
the Hayden Law; discussed dog fighting; gave a description on a dog fight.

2. NEIGHBORHOOD COUNCIL COMMENTS- (Discussion with Neighborhood
Council representatives on Neighborhood Council Resolutions or Community
Impact Statements filed with the City Clerk which relate to any agenda item
listed or being considered on this agenda for the Board of Animals Services
Commissioners.)

Public Comment
None

3. COMMISSION BUSINESS
A. Approval of the minutes for the meeting of October 25, 2016. Commissioner
Gross made a motion to approve the minutes. Commissioner Wolfson

seconded the motion and it was approved by a vote of 5-0.

B. Approval of 2017 Board Meeting Schedule. Commissioner Zaft tabled item
for next Board meeting.

Public Comment
None

4. ORAL REPORT OF THE GENERAL MANAGER

GM Barnette shared the following:

Please join us at our website: www.LAAnimalservices.com
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On October 18-20, Assistant General Manager Louis Dedeaux and
Robert Cabral, Founder and Executive Director of Bound Angels Shelter
Rescue Support conducted another training seminar where they train
animal care professionals and volunteers on how to properly identify K9
behaviors using safer animal handling skills and adoption techniques in
an effort to increase adoptions in the City of Los Angeles and
nationwide.

On October 17th, Wynonna Judd and Cesar Millan joined forces at the
East Valley Animal Shelter to promote an adoption event “Home for the
Pawlidays” which will be held at shelters across the country Black Friday
through Cyber Monday.

On October 13", the Department received a media call regarding a dog
bite that occurred at a Jersey Mike’s sandwich shop in the 2600 block of
Colorado Boulevard. At the time of the media call, the Department had
no record of having received a call for service at that address. Upon
further investigation, it was revealed that LAPD’s Northeast Division
responded to the call where the victim had sustained a dog bite to the
face requiring ambulance transport to a nearby hospital for treatment.
According to LAPD, the dog and owner were no longer on the scene
upon arrival. Over the next several days, the Department worked with
LAPD as they continued to look for the owner. Eventually, through a Go-
Fund-Me account, LAPD was able to locate the dog owner and LAAS
took custody of the dog. Currently the animal is quarantined as required
after a dog bite. A request for administrative hearing has been filed and
a hearing is pending.

LA Animal Services (LAAS), Downtown Dog Rescue (DDR), Inner City
Law Center (ICLC) and Spay4LA partnered to bring services for pets to
the Skid Row community this past Saturday. The Spay4LA mobile
vehicle provided wellness check-up and medical services including spay
and neuter surgeries. The partnership between LAAS, DDR and ICLC is
one of the many efforts by LAAS in support of the Mayor's Citywide
Homeless Strategy (CHS). We were delighted to have Spay4LA join us
last weekend. The Spay4LA staff veterinarian performed 13 spay/neuter
surgeries and microchipped, vaccinated and dewormed various cats and
dogs. They were also able to do basic wellness exams and check on the
skin and ears of several pets. LAAS supplied free spay/neuter vouchers
and helped license all of the dogs who were treated, many received their
first time license and a few licenses were updated. DDR's dedicated
volunteers passed out pet care items to residents such as food, dog
beds, pet carriers, collars and leashes. Pet owners also went home with

Please join us at our website: www.LAAnimalservices.com
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a Little Pine hoodie sweatshirt thanks to generous donation from
musician and animal rights activist, Moby. ICLC provided the space for
the clinic to set up outside in the back of their parking lot located in the
Skid Row area. In addition to this mobile event, LAAS, DDR and ICLC
offer weekly pet services to the homeless community every Wednesday
from 10 a.m. to 2 p.m. at the ICLC office in Skid Row at 1309 E 7th St.,
Los Angeles, CA 90021. The services began in August and to date 200
pet owners have been helped, 46 percent of them homeless.

On November 3, at approximately 1:15 the power went out at the South
LA shelter. Fortunately the generator was able to provide limited power.
Live broken power lines were down in the area at 60" Street and St.
Andrews. LAFD arrived 10 minutes after power went out and blocked off
all public access. The power was restored within a couple of hours.

Our West Los Angeles facility had been having issues with their
perimeter employee parking lot gate. These issues restricted the staff
from entering or exiting the employee parking area from the gate located
on Purdue Avenue providing the only entrance and exit point through the
gate located on Corinth Avenue. General Services has notified the
district that they have completed the necessary repairs to that gate,
putting that gate back into operation.

Assistant General Manager Dedeaux is currently working with the
Bureau of Engineering regarding our Proposition F Phase Il Renovations
for our North Central facility. They are currently working to finalize
project details in the Spay and Neuter Clinic and main entrance and
public lobby.

Our Harbor facility is currently without hot water. The staff noticed what
smelled like a gas leak and reported it to the Gas Company. The Gas
Company came out and assessed the situation and advised staff that
there were no problems with the line on their side. Staff then reported
the issue to General Services who came out and found that they needed
a regulator on the line coming into the building. They have ordered the
part needed and hope to have it installed by Friday. Once the regulator
has been installed they can restore the hot water.

Our North Central facility continues to have ongoing issues with the
drains in the older portion of the kennels. The drains in this area are
corroded and deteriorated causing the drains to constantly back up into
the kennels. General Services was working to repair this issue when the
drain snake they were using broke off in the drain. It has been
determined that they will have to re-pipe the drain in that kennel.

Please join us at our website: www.LAAnimalservices.com
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General Services will start to coordinate the demolition of this kennel to
make repairs to the line.

e Our South Los Angeles facility has been encountering problems with
their phone lines. One of the phone lines is full of static making it so that
staff is unable to hear the person on the other end of the call usually
resulting in a disconnected phone call. This issue has been addressed
with ITA and Verizon. They will be working to resolve this issue.

e November 12, 2016, Gibson Ranch horse licensing event from 1pm to
4pm at Gibson Ranch located at 9655 Wentworth St in Sunland, license
canvassers will be collecting equine licensing and handing out
Department information.

¢ November 19-20, 2016, “Basic Black” discount event, sponsored by The
Pet Care Foundation, $50.00 off black and mostly black dogs.

e Thanksgiving Weekend - Home for the Pawlidays - November 25-27 will
feature fee waived adoptions for all cats and dogs, cat adoptions funded
by The ASPCA grant and dog adoptions funded by Zappos and Best
Friends.

Public Comment:

Phyllis Daugherty read an article from Atomic Dog Publishing; showed
images of local kennels in Los Angeles.

5. COMMISSIONERS’ ORAL REPORTS AND FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS
(Public comment limited to one minute per speaker).

Commissioner Gross stated that October 27, 2016 was the last Pet Housing
Workshop; four workshops were held at shelters; there were 250 participants.

Commissioner Wolfson mentioned its election day; for all to vote.
Commissioner Zaft: passed

Commissioner Finsten: passed

Commissioner Garcia: passed

Public Comment

Phyllis Daugherty asked about the $25,000 expenditure. GM Barnett
responded monies haven’t been spent.

Please join us at our website: www.LAAnimalservices.com
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Commissioner Zaft stated the November 22, 2016 meeting will be canceled in
observance of the holiday.

Commissioner Zaft made a motion to adjourn the meeting. Commissioner
Finsten seconded the motion and it was approved by a vote of 5-0.

Meeting ended at 11:31 a.m.

Please join us at our website: www.LAAnimalservices.com



http://www.laanimalservices.com/

DEPARTMENT OF

BOARD OF .
ANIMAL SERVICES C Ity of Los Angel es ANIMAL SERVICES
COMMISSIONERS 221 North Figueroa Street
— CAL'FORNIA Suite #600
Los Angeles, CA 90012
DAVID ZAFT
PRESIDENT (888) 452-7381
FAX (213) 482-9511
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ROGER WOLFSON
Date: November 8, 2016
To: Board of Animal Services Commissioners
From: Regina Gallegos, Board Secretary
Subject: CALENDAR YEAR 2017 BOARD MEETING SCHEDULE

In order to effectively plan for forthcoming Board of Animal Services Commission events, a
schedule of meeting dates is submitted for your approval. Please review the list of prospective
meeting dates and indicate any changes that may be required.

The proposed 2017 Animal Services Commission meeting dates are as follows:

, MEETING MEETING : mmmad
~ MONTH DATE LOCATION TIME ADDRESS | |

January 10 City Hall 10:00 AM 200 N. Spring St., Rm. 1060

24 City Hall 10:00 AM | 200 N. Spring St., Rm. 1060
February 14 City Hall 10:00 AM 200 N. Spring St., Rm. 1060

28 West Valley 7:00 PM 20655 Plummer St., Chatsworth
March 14 City Hall 10:00 AM 200 N. Spring St., Rm. 1060

28 City Hall 10:00 AM 200 N. Spring St., Rm. 1060
April 11 City Hall 10:00 AM | 200 N. Spring St., Rm. 1060

25 East Valley 7:00 PM 14409 Vanowen St., Van Nuys
May 9 City Hall 10:00 AM 200 N. Spring St., Rm. 1060

23 City Hall 10:00 AM 200 N. Spring St., Rm. 1060
June 13 Harbor 7:00 PM 957 N. Gaffey St., San Pedro

27 City Hall 10:00 AM 200 N. Spring St., Rm. 1060
July 11 City Hall 10:00 AM 200 N. Spring St., Rm. 1060

25 South LA 7:00 PM 1850 West 60" St., L.A.
August 8 City Hall 10:00 AM 200 N. Spring St., Rm. 1060

22 City Hall 10:00 AM 200 N. Spring St., Rm. 1060
September 12 Mission Hills 7:00 PM 15321 Brand Blivd., Mission Hills

26 City Hall 10:00 AM | 200 N. Spring St., Rm. 1060
October 10 City Hall 10:00 AM 200 N. Spring St., Rm. 1060

24 West LA 7:00 PM 11361 W. Pico Blvd., L.A.
November 14 City Hall 10:00 AM 200 N. Spring St., Rm. 1060

28 City Hall 10:00 AM | 200 N. Spring St., Rm. 1060
December 12 North Central 7:00 PM TBD

26 No Meeting

"Creating a Humane LA"
AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER

Visit our website at www.LAAnimalServices.com
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COMMISSION MEETING DATE: December 13, 2016 PREPARED BY: Dana Brown

REPORT DATE: December 6, 2016

TITLE: Assistant General Manager

SUBJECT: STRATEGIC PLANNING PROCESS FOLLOWING 2016 COMMUNITY, STAFF
AND STAKEHOLDER MEETINGS

BOARD ACTIONS RECOMMENDED:

1. ACCEPT the attached Strategic Planning Process Report completed by the strategic
planning consultant Francisca Baxa.

2. INSTRUCT staff to use the report to develop a draft 5-year Strategic Plan with timelines
for Commission review and approval.

BACKGROUND:

Since January 2015, the process of creating a community-based strategic plan has been
underway. The Department retained the services of a professional consultant to facilitate the
process. The consultant, Francisca Baxa, has completed the scope of services identified in her

contract which included:

Meetings with Department designees with report backs and progress updates
Preparation, distribution, and analysis of stakeholder surveys

Facilitation of community meetings in all 15 Council Districts
Facilitation of staff meetings

Analysis of information gathered

Preparation of a formal Strategic Planning Process Report

The aforementioned Strategic Planning Process Report is attached and is intended to provide
information to the Department about the priorities of the stakeholders and used as a guide to
It is recommended that the Board of Animal Services
Commissioners instruct staff to use the report to develop a draft Strategic Plan with timelines for

craft a 5-Year Strategic Plan.

Board review and approval.

"Creating a Humane LA"
AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER

Visit our website at www.LAAnimalServices.com



Report to the Board of Animal Services Commissioners
SUBJECT: Strategic Planning Process Following 2016 Community, Staff and Stakeholder
Meetings

FISCAL IMPACT:
There is no fiscal impact associated with the presentation of this information to the Board.

Approved:

Brenda Barnette, General Manager

Attachment

BOARD ACTION:
Passed Disapproved
Passed with noted modifications Continued
Tabled New Date
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“The greatness of a nation and its moral progress can be judged by the way its
animals are treated.” Mahatma Gandhi

221 N Figueroa Street 6™ Floor, Los Angeles, California 90012

LA

ANIMAL
SERVICES

LAAS Strategic Planning Process Report Page 1



Table of Contents

. Introduction..........ccoovveivir i3
LAAS

Vision

Mission

Values
[1. Strategic Planning Process..................coeeeie, 6
1. What We Learned ..............ocooiiiiiiiiinnnnn, 8
V. Priorities and Strategies.............cccoovveennnn. 9
V. Next Steps.....cooiiiii e, 14

LAAS Strategic Planning Process Report Page 2



INTRODUCTION

The City of Los Angeles Animal Services Department (“LAAS”) is in the midst of
a strategic planning process to develop shared priorities and strategies for the next
five years. This process began with an all-day retreat in January 2015 for staff,
management and Commissioners, and continued throughout 2016 with a series of
meetings, interviews and surveys designed to gather input from community
residents, volunteers, staff, partners, and other stakeholders.

This report summarizes the input that has been received and LAAS intends to use
the input as the foundation for developing its five-year Strategic Plan. The current
goal is to present a proposed five-year Strategic Plan for LAAS to the Board of
Commissioners (“Board”) by June 2017.

LAAS was established 153 years ago. LAAS’s major areas of responsibility
include caring for animals that are received at one of the six City shelters, public
safety and enforcement of the Los Angeles Municipal Code Chapter V Article 3
Section 53.00 et. seq., which includes animal welfare, dangerous animal and
barking dog provisions.

LAAS operates six animal shelters and has field staff serving the community. The
shelters are award-winning facilities that have been built within the past 12 years.
LAAS serves approximately 60,000 animals annually and responds to 20,000
emergency calls each year involving animals or people in danger.

Each shelter has at least one veterinarian and registered veterinarian technicians.
The veterinary team has training and experience in orthopedic surgery, wildlife,
high volume spay/neuter and other medical areas. The shelters are also staffed with
experienced Animal Care Technicians (“ACT”), clerks and other staff who assist
the public and care for the many thousands of animals who enter LAAS shelters
each year, and are essential to the day-to-day operations of one of the largest
municipal shelter systems in the United States.

LAAS field staff consist of Animal Control Officers (“ACQO”), who are recognized
experts in investigating animal cruelty cases and protecting the public from
dangerous animals. They also handle permits and all code enforcement functions
including licensing, spay/neuter, leash laws. They are experts in helping dogs,
cats, rabbits, hawks, alligators, horses, turtles, etc., as well as the people who love
them or fear them. In addition, the field staff includes a world-class Specialized

LAAS Strategic Planning Process Report Page 3



Mobile Animal Rescue Team (“SMART”), one of only two such teams in the
country.

Los Angeles has consistently been a national leader on progressive animal issues.
After the City Council voted to ban of the use of elephant bull hooks in 2014, other
cities soon followed suit, and Ringling Brothers began making plans to retire the
elephants from circus acts. The City was also an early leader in passing declawing
legislation, and a similar law is now being considered by New York and New
Jersey. In 2012, the City enacted an anti-puppy mill ordinance to prevent the
importation of mill bred puppies and kittens and cities across the United States
have joined this movement.

LAAS has introduced dog playgroups to the shelters, worked with partners to
facilitate intervention programs at its largest shelters to help Angelenos keep their
pets, targeted animal-related services to Los Angeles’s homeless population, and
taken many additional steps to improve the welfare of the City’s animals and their
human companions. In addition, LAAS has consistently subsidized and worked
closely with its partners to increase access to spay/neuter services throughout the
City as a critical component toward addressing pet overpopulation.

Los Angeles established an objective to achieve “no kill” status by 2017, and
LAAS has made substantial progress in moving toward that goal. In Fiscal Year
2011-12, the live-save rate for dogs and cats was only 57.8% and as of February
2016, the live-save rate has increased to 78.2%. This rate is based on a total count
of noses in and noses out.

LAAS has accomplished a lot but it still has important work to do and the
community input it received as part of this Strategic Planning process will help
LAAS in continuing with its steady progress during the next five years.
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LAAS

VISION:

We envision a day when every pet born has a good home and is cared for all its
life, when no person is ever endangered by an animal and when all Angelenos are
actively engaged in creating a humane LA.

MISSION:
To protect and promote the health, safety and welfare of animals and people.
VALUES:

We value each employee, volunteer and partner contributing to the professional
delivery of excellent customer service and the humane treatment of animals, in an
atmosphere of open, honest communication predicated on our respect for and trust
in each other. Our values depict the highest standards of:

Respect-We pledge to treat each person thoughtfully, politely and kindly regardless
of rank or relationship.

Trust-We strive to conduct ourselves in an honest, ethical, professional and
respectful manner in everything we think, do and say, inspiring confidence in our
abilities and our honesty.

Open and Honest Communication-We commit to transparency in all forms of
communication and to carefully listen to the communications of one another.

Customer Service-We pledge to provide our best service to every customer,
whether an internal or an external customer, every time.

Humane Treatment-At all times and in all places, we vow to care compassionately,
advocate actively and work tirelessly to insure the best possible environment of all
animals.
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STRATEGIC PLANNING PROCESS

Strategic Planning is a process by which we can envision the future and develop the necessary
procedures and operations to influence and achieve that future. -Clark Crouch

LAAS is committed to promoting and protecting the health, safety and welfare of
people and animals in the Los Angeles community.

To ensure it is fulfilling its commitment, LAAS engaged in gathering input from
the community and learning about community needs and opportunities as part of
its strategic planning process. A goal of the strategic planning process is to create
a five-year plan that prioritizes LAAS’s limited resources and identifies strategies
to better serve the community.

The Committee for the Future of LAAS (“CFF”) composed of the Commission’s
leadership, LAAS leadership, and the Mayor’s office has led the strategic planning
process and has been actively involved in formulating every instrument and
strategy used to engage the community in the strategic planning process.

The strategic planning process has included obtaining input and engagement from
community residents, volunteers, advocates, partners, funders, LAAS staff and
leadership, community based organizations (“CBOs”), elected officials,
Commissioners and other stakeholders in the following manner:

1. Fifteen (15) Community Meetings. Community meetings were held, one
meeting in each council district, throughout the months of March to May 2016.
The meetings were coordinated and hosted by the council district offices. The
meetings were held at council district offices, community centers, and
neighborhood schools throughout Los Angeles. The meetings were staffed by 2
professional facilitators and a notetaker to ensure the community had an
opportunity to provide input and express their views in a respectful environment.
Council district representatives were present to welcome the community at each
meeting and LAAS leadership was present to answer questions. The meetings were
attended by over 200 community residents, volunteers, advocates, partners,
neighborhood associations, neighborhood community based organization
representatives, neighborhood council representatives, public officials and
Commissioners.
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2. 600 + Surveys. Surveys were developed and distributed at the 15
community meetings, via Survey Monkey, posted on the LAAS website and
Facebook and provided to CBOs, council office staff, Neighborhood councils,
partners and advocates during March to August 2016.

3. 6 Shelter Meetings and 1 Administrative Staff Meeting. Separate meetings
were held with staff working at and based out of the six shelters and with
administrative staff.

4, Individual Interviews with the LAAS’s leadership team, partners, funders,
the Commissioners, and experts from February to August 2016.

5. LAAS retreat with Commissioners, staff and LAAS leadership in January
2015.
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WHAT WE LEARNED:

(Strengths/Weaknesses/Opportunities/Obstacles/Threats)

1. LAAS performs a critical public service essential to the community’s safety
and livability.

2. The community wants the welfare of animals and people, public safety,
humane education, good communication, low cost medical services, and good
(customer) service to be LAAS’s priorities.

3. Many in the community are not aware of LAAS’s programs and services.
At the same time, there is a great need for LAAS’s programs and services
especially in the City’s low income neighborhoods.

4, The community has a misconception of LAAS and LAAS’s responsibilities.
(e.g. LAAS veterinarian services are open to the general public)

5. LAAS has experienced, committed staff and leadership that work very hard
with very limited resources but they need ongoing training, equipment, support and
encouragement.

6. LAAS has developed very supportive local and national partners and has the
opportunity to develop more partnerships.

7. LAAS has very committed volunteers willing to help, but volunteers need
orientation, coordination, ongoing training, supervision and nurturing.

8. There are passionate, caring people engaged in helping animals and people
throughout the City’s neighborhoods who are willing to partner with LAAS.

9. LAAS needs to build the infrastructure to access resources, both partnerships
and financial resources, which will augment its limited budget and help it expand
its reach.

10. LAAS has strong supporters as well as a contingency of vocal critics.
Healthy criticism helps everyone improve but LAAS cannot focus only on vocal
critics who may not accurately reflect the concerns of the larger community that
LAAS serves. LAAS must also seek out the concerns and address the needs of all
of the City’s communities, especially silent vulnerable populations.
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COMMUNITY PRIORITIES AND STRATEGIES:

The priorities and strategies listed below are based on the input received during
meetings, interviews, the retreat and from the survey responses. This input will
serve as the foundation for the development of the Strategic Plan that will be
presented to the Board in 2017.

PRIORITY 1. WELFARE OF ANIMALS AND PEOPLE. LIVE-

SAVE RATE OF 90%: Focus on the welfare of animals and people, public
safety, providing good services to the community, excellent communication, and
strong partnerships. Build and sustain an organization that can achieve and
maintain a live-save rate of at least 90% for all animals entering the City shelter
system.

Strategy 1. Reduce the number of all animals entering the City shelter
system by reducing the number of pet births through a comprehensive and
sustained spay/neuter campaign, a humane education campaign, and by
working with veterinarians to provide low cost medical services and
intervention groups to help people keep their animals.

Strategy 2. Strengthen and expand partnerships with rescue organizations
that help LAAS place animals with forever families, funders, intervention
groups, veterinarians, advocates, educational institutions, businesses, faith-
based organizations and CBOs, especially those serving low income
neighborhoods.

Strategy: 3. Strengthen and expand the volunteer program by hiring a
volunteer coordinator at each shelter, and ensuring the volunteers are
recruited, oriented, trained, supervised and nurtured.

Strategy 4: Expand the foster parent program.

Strategy 5. Humane Education Campaign: Develop and implement a
humane education program that focuses on teaching youth and reaches out
to the City’s diverse low income communities. Work with educational
organizations such as LAUSD, local colleges and universities and CBOs
serving low income neighborhoods.
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Strategy 6. Spay/Neuter Campaign: Continue to build a comprehensive and
sustained spay/neuter campaign. Increase access to spay/neuter services by
marketing those services in multiple languages. Ensure low income people
have access to spay/neuter vouchers, mobile spay/neuter services,
transportation or other resources needed to have their animals
spayed/neutered.

Strategy 7. Resources Campaign: Develop partnerships to target resources
and information to low income people, seniors and other vulnerable
populations to ensure they have the support (education, information,
vouchers, transportation, food, low cost medical services) needed to keep
their animals.

Strategy 8. Ensure the City resolves the lawsuit preventing services related
to neighborhood cats, including completion of the EIR. Develop and
implement a program that addresses the welfare of all cats in Los Angeles
neighborhoods.

PRIORITY 2: GOOD SERVICE: Ensure LAAS is providing good
services in the field, especially to low income neighborhoods with the
greatest need, and good (customer) service when people call or visit the
shelters.

Strategy 1. Build a stronger organizational infrastructure by having
sufficient staff and leadership, excellent internal communication and
ensure that leadership and staff have ongoing training, proper
equipment, updated technology, support and encouragement to carry
out LAAS’s mission.

Strategy 2. Make shelters a community resource and the best place to
adopt an animal. Make the shelters more inviting inside and outside
and hold community events regularly at the shelters.

Strategy 3. Actively engage LAAS in team building. Commissioners,
leadership, ACTs, medical staff, ACOs, hearing officers,
administrative staff, clerks and others serving at LAAS are not always
on the same page but they are all part of the same team and have the
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same mission. They need to all feel and know that each individual is an
important part of achieving the mission.

PRIORITY 3: GOOD COMMUNICATION AND OUTREACH:
Ensure the community understands LAAS’s mission and is well
informed of LAAS’s programs, services and accomplishments.

Strategy 1. Increase communication capacity and visibility to ensure the
community is well informed about LAAS’s mission, responsibilities,
programs, services and accomplishments.

Strategy 2. Outreach and Education Campaign: Develop and implement an
education, information and outreach plan that informs and educates the
community about LAAS, its mission, and accomplishments.

Strategy 3. Update the website to make it easier to locate information.
Make sure the information on the website is accessible to those that do not
read English.

Strategy 4. Partner with other City departments like the library, and Parks
and Recreation to disseminate information about LAAS programs, services
and accomplishments.

Strategy 5. Partner with social service organizations, faith based
organizations, LAUSD and CBO’s serving low income neighborhoods to
disseminate information about LAAS programs, services and
accomplishments.

Strategy 6. Develop a core group of community ambassadors in each City
neighborhood to serve as the LAAS outreach and information corps, and
hire or otherwise establish community liaison personnel to develop
relationships with community organizations, business partners and to
coordinate the community ambassador corps. Coordinate this effort with
animal welfare representatives from Neighborhood Councils.
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Strategy 7. Build on the canvassing team to implement a community
organizing/social service/education model of service and door-to-door
outreach that provides information, education and assistance.

Strategy 8. Require that all contractors (e.g. spay/neuter contractors) post
signage acknowledging LAAS is funding the service being provided.

Strategy 9. Work with a professional PR firm to develop a marketing/PR
plan for LAAS.

PRIORITY 4: SUSTAINABILITY: Ensure that LAAS has the
financial and other resources needed to provide good services to the
community and fulfill its mission.

Strategy 1. Expand and improve the use of existing sources (e.g. annual
budget, Animal Trust Fund, Spay/Neuter Fund).

Strategy 2. Increase and diversify funding by creating or activating a
fundraising arm such as “Friends of LAAS” that will fundraise and
financially support LAAS, develop new partnerships, and increase visibility
through good publicity and community outreach.

Strategy 3. Develop more private-public partnerships (e.g. Veterinarian
Associations, Pet Stores, media).

Strategy 4. Develop programs and partnerships with other City departments
and other governmental agencies to leverage/pool resources.

Strategy 5. Develop a fund development plan to augment the resources
provided by the City and hire fund/resource development personnel.

Strategy 6. Cultivate relationships with community leaders and
organizations (housing/homeless advocates, immigration advocates, equal
pay advocates) that are actively engaged in creating a humane LA.
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Strategy 7. Create jobs and economic development by developing
partnerships with the State of California, City agencies, and CBOs that serve
the “difficult to employ” populations interested in careers working with
animals and engaging in creative solutions with labor unions to create
learning opportunities that lead to jobs at LAAS and in the community.
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NEXT STEPS

LAAS deeply appreciates the active participation of every person that took the
time to provide thoughtful, meaningful and important input. Many thanks to the
community residents, advocates, staff and leadership of LAAS, volunteers,
partners, funders, CBOs, Commissioners, Mayor’s representative, Council office
staff and other stakeholders that provided input and helped LAAS gather important
perspectives and opinions. LAAS will use the input gathered and will take the
following next steps toward developing its Strategic Plan:

A. IMPLEMENTATION/ACCOUNTABILITY

1.
2.

B~ w

Set specific measurable Goals and ensure each Goal has a champion.
Develop a detailed work plan for each Goal that includes action steps,
long term outcome, deadlines, responsible persons and resources
needed.

Establish a reporting schedule.

Establish internal and external accountability mechanisms.

B. EVALUATION:

1.

Ensure progress toward the Goals and action steps are regularly
evaluated by the Commissioners (at least once per year) to ensure the
actions LAAS is implementing are accomplishing its mission.

After the second year, an external party should perform a review to
see if the actions taken are accomplishing the mission.
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Report to the Board of Animal Services Commissioners

COMMISSION MEETING DATE: December 13, 2016 PREPARED BY: Dana Brown
REPORT DATE: December 6, 2016 TITLE: Assistant General Manager

SUBJECT: NORTHEAST VALLEY ANIMAL SHELTER - EXTENSION OF CURRENT
CONTRACT AND AWARD OF NEW CONTRACT

BOARD ACTIONS RECOMMENDED:

1. APPROVE the Supplemental Agreement to the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter contract
and extension with the Best Friends Animal Society (BFAS), substantially in the form as
outlined in the attached agreement, subject to approval of the City Attorney as to form
and legality. (Attachment A)

2. AUTHORIZE the General Manager of the Department of Animal Services with the
assistance of the Office of the City Administrative Officer and the Office of the City
Attorney, to negotiate and execute a three-year management contract with three one-
year renewal options between the City of Los Angeles and the Best Friends Animal
Society for the operation of the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter, subject to the approval
of the City Attorney as to form. (Attachment B)

BACKGROUND:

On August 25, 2016, the Office of the City Administrative Officer (CAO) released a Request for
Proposals (RFP) for a contractor to continue operating the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter. The
RFP was posted on the Business Assistance Virtual Network (BAVN), the City’s main business
opportunity portal. The Proposal was accessed by 28 registered viewers of the BAVN portal.
Proposals were due from potential bidders on September 26, 2016. Subsequently, BFAS was
the only responder to the RFP. Based on the terms of its proposal, BFAS would continue to
administer adoption and spay-neuter services, plus provide community outreach and
educational programs consistent with the Department's mission. After an extensive review by
the CAQ, City Attorney, and the Department, the BFAS proposal was deemed responsive to the
requirements and provisions of the RFP. It is now recommended that a new contract with BFAS
be approved for the operation of the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter.

"Creating a Humane LA"
AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER

Visit our website at www.LAAnimalServices.com



Report to the Board of Animal Services Commissioners
SUBJECT: Northeast Valley Animal Shelter — Extension of Current Contract and Award of New
Contract

Accordingly, the CAO has prepared a draft management contract (attached) for the operation of
shelter by BFAS. Under the terms of the proposed contract, BFAS would provide the City with
the following services:

1. Primary Function - On-site adoptions including licensing

2. Secondary Function - Low cost spay/neuter surgeries, vaccinations, and medical care
for adopted and owned pets

3. Tertiary Function - Educational, outreach, and developmental programs and other
Animal Welfare Services

4. Emergency Function - Temporary use of shelter for animal housing by the City

The terms of the proposed contract are essentially consistent with the current agreement and
operation of the shelter. However, the proposed contract includes new provisions that allow
BFAS the option to enter into a sub-agreement with a non-profit animal welfare organization to
provide spay/neuter surgeries and to accept vouchers issued to Los Angeles residents by the
Department for spay or neuter surgeries. The proposed contract must be reviewed by the City
Attorney as to form prior to execution.

The current contract is set to expire on December 30, 2016, however there is not sufficient time
before the Winter Recess to have the item in Council before the contract expires. The item is
scheduled to be heard in the Personnel and Welfare Committee at its Special Meeting on,
December 14, 2016. The Department is requesting approval to transmit the attached
amendment extending the term of the contract through February 28, 2017.

FISCAL IMPACT:

Approval of the contract extension will have no additional impact to the General Fund. Funds
will be used from the Animal Sterilization Trust Fund, in accordance with trust fund limitations
and as they would be paid to outside veterinary services for providing sterilization on adopted
animals qualifying for coupon/free certificates.

Approval of the contract award will have no additional impact on the General Fund. The General
Services Department is budgeted $200,000 annually to continue to provide basic facility
maintenance and utilities for the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter. The recommendation will
provide cost avoidance savings during the term of the contract based on the services Best
Friends Animal Society is willing to provide at no additional cost to the City. The value of
services provided is approximately $3.8 million per year.

Approved:

r7/ 7&4”«@

Brenda Barnette, General Manager

Attachments

BOARD ACTION:
Passed Disapproved
Passed with noted modifications Continued
Tabled New Date



THIRD AMENDMENT TO THE AGREEMENT FOR

THE LOS ANGELES NORTHEAST CARE CENTER
by and between the
CITY OF LOS ANGELES
and
BEST FRIENDS ANIMAL SOCIETY
(CONTRACT NUMBER C-120026)

THIS THIRD AMENDMENT to Contract Number C-120026 (“Amendment”) for the Los
Angeles Northeast Care Center is made and entered into as of December 30, 2016, between the
City of Los Angeles (“City”), a municipal corporation and a charter city under the laws of the
State of California, acting by and through the Department of Animal Services (“Department”)
and Best Friends Animal Society, a tax-exempt non-profit animal welfare organization
(“Operator™), authorized to do business in the State of California with regard to the following:

WHEREAS, the original Agreement, including the two one-year options to extend, was
approved by the City Council (CF # 11-1345) and authorized the General Manager of the
Department to execute the Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the City as of December 30, 2014, exercised the first of the two renewal options
and extended the term of the Agreement by one (1) year to December 30, 2015; and

WHEREAS, the City as of December 30, 2015, exercised the second option and extended the
term of the Agreement by one additional year to December 30, 2016; and

WHEREAS, the City issued an RFP for services at the Northeast Shelter and is negotiating with
Operator for a new agreement and requires the services of Operator to continue in the interim;
and

WHEREAS, this Amendment extends the term of the Agreement through February 28, 2017,
or such sooner date as a new agreement is entered into.

NOW THEREFORE, City and Operator agree to the following extension:

Section 1.4. Term, is hereby amended increasing the term from December 30, 2016 through
February 28, 2017 as follows.

Term. The term of the Agreement is hereby extended through February 28, 2017, on the
condition that the Operator's performance continue to meet the expectations stipulated in this
Agreement.

All other terms and conditions of the Agreement remain the same.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Third Amendment to be duly executed on
its behalf by the General Manager of the Department of Animal Services pursuant to due
authorization of the City Council and the Operator has caused this Agreement to be duly
executed pursuant to due authorization by its Board.

CITY OF LOS ANGELES, a municipal corporation,

By:

BRENDA BARNETTE
General Manger, Animal Services

DATE:

BEST FRIENDS ANIMAL SOCIETY, a tax-exempt non-profit animal welfare,

By:

GREGORY CASTLE
Chief Executive Officer

DATE:
APPROVED AS TO FORM:

MICHAEL N. FEUER, City Attorney

By:

Dov S. Lesel, Assistant City Attorney

DATE:

City Business License Number

ATTEST:

HOLLY L. WOLCOTT, City Clerk

By:
Deputy

DATE:

IRS Taxpayer Identification Number

City Contract Number C-120026

AS Northeast Valley Animal Shelter 3d Amendment to Contract C-120026 draft 12.7.16



LOS ANGELES NORTHEAST VALLEY ANIMAL SHELTER
AGREEMENT

Dated as of

January 1, 2017

by and between

CITY OF LOS ANGELES

And

BEST FRIENDS ANIMAL SOCIETY
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AGREEMENT FOR USE OF THE

LOS ANGELES NORTHEAST VALLEY ANIMAL SHELTER
(CONTRACT NUMBER C- )

THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”)) for use of the LOS ANGELES NORTHEAST
VALLEY ANIMAL SHELTER is made and entered into as of January 1, 2017, between the
City of Los Angeles (“City”), a municipal corporation and a charter city under the laws of the
State of California, acting by and through the Department of Animal Services (“Department™)
and Best Friends Animal Society, a tax-exempt non-profit animal welfare organization
(“Operator”), authorized to do business in the State of California with regard to the following:

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Agreement, including the options to extend, was approved by
the City Council (CF # } and authorized the General Manager of the Department to

execute the Agreement; and
WHEREAS, the City owns the Northeast Animal Shelter (“Shelter”); and

WHEREAS, following a Request for Proposals (RFP) dated August 25, 2016, Operator was
selected and the City is entering into this Agreement to allow the Operator to provide certain
services at the Shelter to include adoptions, pet education, spay/neuter surgeries and other
Animal Welfare Services not otherwise prohibited by this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, it is anticipated that Operator will provide approximately 3,000 adoptions
annually and related veterinary care for cats and dogs that are received from the Department’s
other shelters and adopted from the Shelter, as well as 6,000 or more spay/neuter surgeries per
year for pets owned by qualifying residents in the Los Angeles area or adopted from the Shelter;

and

WHEREAS, it is anticipated that the cost to provide these services by Operator may exceed
the anticipated revenue, which cost will be borne solely by Operator; and

WHEREAS, these operations will augment the Depariment's ability to provide adoption and
spay/neuter services to residents in Los Angeles; and

WHEREAS, Operator will accept the fees for services listed herein; and

WHEREAS, the City has determined that the terms and provisions of this Agreement will
ensure that certain Animal Welfare Services will be provided in the Shelter in a manner that
benefits the public and fulfills the public purposes of the Shelter and as such public benefits and
public purposes will be preserved; and

WHEREAS, the City desires to comply with the January 5, 2010 Permanent Injunction in The
Urban Wildlands Group, et al. v. City of Los Angeles, et al., Los Angeles Superior Court Action
No. BS115483, as modified by the March 10, 2010 Stipulated Order Modifying Injunction



(collectively the “Injunction™), and until such time, if any, that the Injunction is lifted, Operator
shall also comply with the Injunction and shall provide no services, spay/neuter surgeries, or
veterinary care of any kind under this Agreement in violation of the Injunction; and

NOW THEREFORE, the Parties (as defined herein) covenant and agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
BASIC PROVISIONS

Date and Parties. This Agreement is dated, as of the date first written above, and is between City
and Operator upon the provisions and conditions contained in this Agreement. The Cityis a
municipal corporation and a charter city, organized under the laws of the State of California.

The Operator is a tax-exempt non-profit animal welfare organization, with principal offices at
5001 Angel Canyon Dr., Kanab, Utah 84741.

Reserved Powers. The Reserved Powers of the City are expressly reserved to the City for the
Term of this Agreement. Any obligations or restrictions imposed by this Agreement on the City
shall not relate to or otherwise affect any activity of the City in its governmental capacity,
including, but not limited to, enacting laws, inspecting Northeast Valley Animal Shelter,
reviewing and issuing permits, and all other legislative, administrative, or enforcement functions
of the City pursuant to federal, state, or local law.

Execution Date. The phrase “Execution Date” shall mean the date the Office of the City Clerk of
Los Angeles attests this Agreement, except in the event that Operator executes this Agreement
after such attestation, in which case the date of such execution by Operator shall be the
Execution Date. The Agreement commencement date shall be as of the date written above.

Section 1.1. Term. The term of the original Agreement shall be for three (3) years, and
upon the mutual written agreement of the City and Operator, may be renewed for up to three (3)
additional years. The City intends to exercise the renewal option on the condition that the
Operator's performance reasonably meets the expectations stipulated in this Agreement. The City
will not decline to exercise the renewal option arbitrarily and capriciously.

References. All references to the “City” in this Agreement shall include the City’s various
departments and subdivisions, including the Department of Animals Services.

ARTICLE 2
DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

Definitions. For the purposes of this Agreement the following terms have the following
meanings:

“Affiliate”, when used to indicate a relationship with a specified Person, means a Person that,
directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries controls, is controlled by or is under
common control with such specified Person, and a Person shall be deemed to be controlled by
another Person, if controlled in any manner whatsoever that results in control in fact by that other



Person (or that other Person and any Person or Persons with whom that other Person is acting
jointly or in concert), whether directly or indirectly and whether through share ownership, a trust,
a contract or otherwise (it being understood and agreed that for the purposes of this definition, a
managed fund or trust shall be deemed to be an Affiliate of the Person managing such fund or

trust).

“Administrative_Code” means the Administrative Code of the City of Los Angeles, as
amended.

“Affected Property” means any public or private property, including a park, highway, street,
road, roadway, railroad, rail or other transit way, mechanical room, tunnel, storage room or
elevator and any ancillary facilities related to any of the foregoing, under the jurisdiction and
control of the City, any other Governmental Authority or any other Person that is located above,
within the boundaries of, intersects with, crosses over or under or is adjacent to the Shelter or

any part thereof.

“Agreement” has the meaning ascribed thereto in the preamble to this Agreement (including all
schedules referred to herein), as amended from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof,

“Animal Welfare Services” means, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, animal
care activities identified in Section 3.2 of this Agreement.

“Annual Revenues” means, with respect to any Fiscal Year, all gross Fee Revenues and all
gross Other Operator Revenues.

“Audit” and similar expressions mean, with respect to any matter or thing relating to the
Northeast Valley Animal Shelter, the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter Operations or this
Agreement, the performance by or on behalf of the City of such reviews, investigations,
inspections and audits relating to such matter or thing as the City may reasonably determine to be
necessary in the circumstances, conducted in each case in accordance with applicable United
States industry accepted practices, if any, or as required by Law.

“Authorization” means any approval, certificate of approval, authorization, consent, waiver,
variance, exemption, declaratory order, exception, license, filing, registration, permit,
notarization or other requirement of any Person that is reasonably required from time to time for
the Northeast Valley Animat Shelter Operations.

“Bank Rate” means the 3-Month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) as reported in The
Wall Street Journal (or its successors).

“Board” means the Board of Animal Services Commissioners of the City.

“Business Day” means any day that is neither a Saturday, a Sunday nor a day observed as a
holiday by State of California, the City of Los Angeles, or the United States government.
Whenever under the terms of this Agreement the time for performance of a covenant or
condition falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or Federal, California State, or City of Los Angeles
holiday, such time for performance shall be extended to the next business day.



“CAQ” means the City Administrative Officer of the City or the City Administrative Officer’s
designee.

“Shelter” has the meaning ascribed thereto in the recitals to this Agreement.
“City” has the meaning ascribed thereto in the preamble to this Agreement.

“City Directive” means a written order or directive prepared by or on behalf of the City
directing Operator, to the extent permitted hereby, to (i) add or perform work in respect of the
Northeast Valley Animal Shelter in addition to that provided for in this Agreement, or (ii) change
the dimensions, character, quantity, quality, description, location or position of any part of the
Northeast Valley Animal Shelter or the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter Operations; provided,
however, that no such order or directive may in any event order or direct Operator to do any act
that could reasonably be expected to violate any applicable Law, the Injunction, or are materially
inconsistent with Operator’s standard operating procedures dated June 2016 as provided to the
City, or cause Operator to fail to be in compliance with this Agreement.

“Consent” means any approval, consent, ratification, waiver, exemption, license, permit,
novation, certificate of occupancy or other authorization, of any Person, including any Consent
issued, granted, given, or otherwise made available by or under the authority of any
Governmental Authority or pursuant to any applicable Law.

“Construction Contract” means any construction contract entered into by the Operator related
to the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter (or subcontracts thereunder).

“Confractor” means any person or company under contract to perform work or supply
materials or labor in relation to the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter, including any subcontractor
of any tier, supplier or materialman directly or indirectly employed pursuant to a contract or
subcontract with the Operator.

“Days” or “days” as applied in this Agreement to a period of less than ten (10) days shall
mean Business Days; otherwise, “days” shall mean calendar days unless specifically modified
herein to be “business” or “working” days.

“Department” has the meaning ascribed thereto in the preamble to this Agreement.

“Designated Senior Person” means such individual who is designated as such from time to
time by each Party for the purposes of Article 11.

“Emergencies” mean any event including fires, floods, earthquakes or other events that require
the urgent housing of animals by the City, emergency mobilization, evacuation of household pets
and large animals, and emergency staging operations. “Emergencies” shall expressly not include
animal seizures resulting from hoarding or other law-enforcement situations.

“Encumbrance” means any- mortgage, lien, judgment, execution, pledge, charge, security
interest, restriction, easement, servitude, option, reservation, lease, UCC filing, claim, trust,
deemed trust or encumbrance of any nature whatsoever, whether arising by operation of Law,
judicial process, contract, agreement or otherwise created.



“End Date” means the date on which this Agreement expires or is terminated.

“Environment” means the physical conditions which exist within the area affected by the
Shelter including land, air, water, minerals, flora, fauna, ambient noise, and objects of historic or
aesthetic significance, including but not limited to soil, surface waters, groundwater, land, stream
sediments, surface or subsurface strata and ambient air.

“Environmental Laws” means any Laws applicable to the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter
regulating or imposing liability or standards of conduct conceming or relating to (i) the
regulation, use or protection of human health and the Environment or (ii) the regulation, use or
exposure to Hazardous Substances.

“Execution Date™ has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 1.3.

“Fiscal Year” means the annual period commencing on July 1 of a calendar year and ending on
June 30 of the next calendar year.

“Governmental Authority” means any court, federal, state, local or foreign government,
department, commission, board, bureau, agency or other regulatory, administrative,
governmental or quasi-governmental authority.

“Information” means any and all information relating to the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter,
including (i) income statements, balance sheets, statements of cash flow and changes in financial
position, details regarding Revenues, operating income, expenses, capital expenditures and
budgeted operating results relating to the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter, (ii) all certificates,
correspondence, data (including test data), documents, facts, files, information, investigations,
materials, notices, plans, projections, records, reports, requests, samples, schedules, statements,
studies, surveys, tests, test results, information analyzed, categorized, characterized, created,
collected, generated, maintained, processed, produced, prepared, provided, recorded, stored or
used by the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter, the Operator or any of its Representatives in
connection with the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter and (iii) proper, complete and accurate
books, records, accounts and documents of the Operator relating to the Northeast Valley Animal
Shelter, including any Information that is stored electronically or on computer-related media;
provided, however, that nothing in this Agreement shall require the disclosure by any Party of
Information that is protected by attorney-client or other legal privilege based upon an opinion of
counse] reasonably satisfactory to the other Party or acquired by a Party subject to a

confidentiality agreement,

“Injunction” means that certain Final Judgment and Permanent Injunction dated January 5,
2010 and as modified by the Stipulated Order Modifying Injunction in the case entitled The
Urban Wildlands et al vs. City of Los Angeles et al, Case No. BS 115483 dated March 10, 2010,
copies of which are attached hereto as Attachment A.

“Law” or “Laws” includes all federal, state, county, city, or government agency laws, statutes,
ordinances, standards, rules, requirements, writs, injunctions, decrees, judgments, or orders now
in force or hereafter enacted, promulgated, or issued, including, without limitation, government
measures regulating or enforcing public access, occupational, health, or safety standards,
hazardous materials, or for parking, employers, employees, or Operators.




“Loss” means, with respect to any Person, any loss, liability, damage, penalty, charge or out-
of-pocket and documented cost or expense actually suffered or incurred by such Person, but
excluding any punitive, special, indirect and consequential damages and any contingent liability
until such liability becomes actual.

“Month” or “Months” shall be deemed to include the actual number of days in such actual
month or months.

“Municipal Code” means the Municipal Code of the City of Los Angeles, as amended.

“Notice” means the notice given in compliance with Section 13.1. and Section 13.2.

“Operations” or “Northeast Valley Animal Shelter Operations™ means the provision of Animal
Welfare Services by Operator in the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter, and more specifically the
adoption, spay/neuter and other Animal Welfare Services to be performed by Operator at the
Northeast Shelter specifically excluding animal intake or animal control or enforcement services
as well as the use, maintenance and repair of the Shelter by Operator.

“Operating Agreement” means any material agreement, contract or commitment to which the
Operator is a party or otherwise relating to the Northeast Animal Shelter Operations as in force
from time to time (including any warranties or guaranties).

“Operating Standards” means (i) the standards, specifications, policies, procedures and
processes, if any, as stated in the Operator’s standard operating procedures manual dated June
2016 that apply to the operation, maintenance, and capital improvements to, the Northeast Valley
Animal Shelter set forth in the document, including any plans submitted by the Operator to the
City. To the extent that any term or provision set forth in the Operator’s internal policies or
procedures manual or incorporated by reference conflicts with any term or provision specified in
this Agreement, then such term or provision of this Agreement shall govern and shall supersede
any such conflicting term or provision.

“Operator” has the meaning ascribed thereto in the preamble to this Agreement.

“Operator Request” means a written request in respect of the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter
prepared by or on behalf of the Operator and addressed to the City as provided herein.

“Neuter” means surgical castration.

“Northeast Valley Animal Shelter Council Action” has the meaning ascribed thereto in the
recitals to this Agreement.

“Party” means a party to this Agreement and “Parties” means all of them.

“Representative” means, with respect to any Person, any director, officer, employee, official,
lender (or any agent or trustee acting on its behalf), partner, member, owner, agent, lawyer,
accountant, auditor, professional advisor, consultant, engineer, contractor, other Person for
whom such Person is at law responsible or other representative of such Person and any
professional advisor, consultant or engineer designated by such Person as its “Representative.”



“Required Coverage” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 10.1.

“Reserved Powers” means the exercise by the City of police and regulatory powers with
respect to the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter, and the regulation of traffic, traffic control and

the use of the public way.

“Reversion Date” means the day immediately following the End Date.

“Spay” means ovariohysterectomy.

“Standard Terms and Conditions™ means those Standard City Terms and Conditions (Rev 3/09)
that are attached to this contract as Attachment B and made a part hereof.

“Sterilization” and “surgery” means the surgical spaying or neutering of an animal.

“Tax” means any federal, state, local or foreign income, gross receipts, license, payroll,
employment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, premium, windfall profits, environmental,
customs duties, permit fees, capital stock, profits, withholding, social security, unemployment,
disability, real property, possessory interest, personal property, parking, sales, use, transfer,
registration, value added, alternative or add-on minimum, estimated or other tax, levy, impost,
stamp tax, duty, fee, withholding or similar imposition of any kind payable, levied, collected,
withheld or assessed at any time, including any interest, penalty or addition thereto, whether
disputed or not.

“Term” means the term of the management contract referred to in Section 1.4.

“TNR” means Trap, Neuter and Return.

“Voucher” refers to a Discount Coupon or Free Certificate issued to a Los Angeles resident by
the Department for the spaying or neutering (sterilization) of an owned dog, cat, or rabbit.

Number and Gender. In this Agreement words in the singular include the plural and vice versa
and words in one gender include all genders.

Headings. The division of this Agreement into articles, sections and other subdivisions are for
convenience of reference only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of this
Agreement. The headings in this Agreement are not intended to be full or precise descriptions of
the text to which they refer and shall not be considered part of this Agreement.

References to this Agreement. The words “herein,” ‘“hereby,” “hereof,” “hereto” and
“hereunder” and words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any
particular portion of it. The words “Article,” “Section,” “paragraph,” “sentence,” “clause” and
“Schedule” mean and refer to the specified article, section, paragraph, sentence, clause or
schedule of or to this Agreement.

Meaning of Including. In this Agreement, the words “include,” “includes” or “including” mean
“include without limitation,” “includes without limitation” and “including without limitation,”



respectively, and the words following “include,” “includes” or “including” shall not be

considered to set forth an exhaustive list,

Meaning of Discretion. In this Agreement, the word “discretion” or words of like import, City
and Operator expressly agree that such Party has the sole and absolute unfettered ability to
exercise such discretion, including, without limitation, to grant or withhold approval, either
arbitrarily or otherwise, and with or without reason, and neither the opposite Party nor any other
Person, entity, or tribunal shall have any right or power to inquire into or review the exercise of
such discretion, including, without limitation, the granting or withholding of approval, or the
reasons or lack of reasons therefor.

Consents and Approvals. Unless specified otherwise, wherever the provisions of this Agreement
require or provide for or permit an approval or consent by either Party, such approval or consent,
and any request therefor, must be in writing (unless waived in writing by the other Party).

Laws. Unless specified otherwise, references to a Law are considered to be a reference to
(i) such Law as it may be amended from time to time, (ii) all regulations and rules pertaining to
or promulgated pursuant to such Law, (iii) the successor to the Law resulting from recodification
or similar reorganizing of Laws and (iv) all future Laws pertaining to the same or similar subject
matter. Nothing in this Agreement shall fetter or otherwise interfere with the right and authority
of the City to enact, administer, apply and enforce any Law in its capacity as a governmental
agency.

Currency. Unless specified otherwise, all statements of or references to dollar amounts or money
in this Agreement are to the lawful currency of the United States of America.

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. All accounting and financial terms used herein,
unless specifically provided to the contrary, shall be interpreted and applied in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, consistently applied.

Approvals, Consents and Performance by the City.

(a) Procedures. Wherever the provisions of this Agreement require or provide
for or permit an approval or consent by the City of or to any action, Person, Document, or other
matter contemplated by this Agreement, the following provisions shall apply: (i) such request
for approval or consent must (1) be directed to the proper person and contain or be accompanied
by any documentation or information required for such approval or consent in reasonably
sufficient detail, as reasonably determined by the City, (2) clearly set forth the matter in respect
of which such approval or consent is being sought, (3) form the sole subject matter of the
correspondence containing such request for approval or consent, and (4) state clearly that such
approval or consent is being sought; (ii) such approval or consent shall not be unreasonably or
arbitrarily withheld, conditioned or delayed (unless such provision provides that such approval or
consent may be unreasonably or arbitrarily withheld, conditioned or delayed or is subject to the
discretion of the City); (iii) the City shall, within such time period set forth herein (or if no time
period is provided, within 45 days, subject to the City’s right to extend such period for an
additional 15 days) after the giving of a notice by Operator requesting an approval or consent,
advise Operator by notice cither that it consents or approves or that it withholds its consent or



approval, in which latter case it shall (unless such provision provides that such approval or
consent may be unreasonably or arbitrarily withheld, conditioned or delayed or is subject to the
discretion of the City) set forth, in reasonable detail, its reasons for withholding its consent or
approval, which reasons may include the insufficiency, as determined by the City acting
reasonably, of the information or documentation provided; (iv)if the responding notice
mentioned in clause (iii) of this Section 2.11(a) indicates that the City does not approve or
consent, the Operator may take whatever steps may be necessary to satisfy the objections of the
City set out in the responding notice and, thereupon, may resubmit such request for approval or
consent from time to time and the provisions of this Section 2.11 shall again apply until such
time as the approval or consent of the City is finally obtained; (v)if the disapproval or
withholding of consent mentioned in clause (iv) of this Section 2.11(a) is subsequently
determined pursuant to Article 12 to have been improperly withheld or conditioned by the City,
such approval or consent shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such final
determination; and (vi) for the avoidance of doubt, any dispute as to whether or not a consent or
approval has been unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed shall be resolved in accordance

with the provisions of Article 12.

(b) Authority of the City. Wherever this Agreement provides that an act is to
be taken or performed or approval or consent is to be given by the City, unless specified
otherwise in this Agreement or otherwise expressly required by Law, the City Charter, the
Municipal Code or the Administrative Code, such act may be taken or performed or approval or
consent may be given by the CAO, without further action by the City Council of the City and
Operator may rely thereon in all respects.

(c) Approved Documents. Subject to the other provisions hereof, wherever in
this Agreement an approval or consent is required with respect to any document, proposal,
certificate, plan, drawing, specification, contract, agreement, budget, schedule, report or other
written instrument whatsoever (a “Document™), following such Approval such Document shall
not be amended, supplemented, replaced, revised, modified, altered or changed in any manner
whatsoever without obtaining a further Approval in accordance with the provisions of this

Section 2.11.

Schedules and Exhibits. In the event of any conflict between the terms of this Agreement and
the terms of the Schedules and Exhibits attached to this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement

shall control.

ARTICLE 3
TERMS OF THE MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

Right of Use.

(a) The City and Operator acknowledge Operator’s right to use the Shelter to provide
spay/neuter services, adoption services and Animal Welfare Services to the community in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement and that the City may monitor to ensure

compliance,

Northeast Valley Animal Shelter Operations.



(b) Use. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, including without limitations the
public purpose requirements of Section 3.15, Operator shall, at all times during the Term, (i) be
responsible for all aspects of the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter Operations; and (ii) cause the
Northeast Valley Animal Shelter Operations to be performed in accordance with the provisions
of this Agreement and applicable Law (provided, however, that Operator may contest the
application of any Law by appropriate proceedings). Operator shall, at all times during the
Term, provide the programs at the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter in accordance with the
Operating Standards and in compliance with any other requirement of this Agreement (including
closures related to maintenance or repair activities as required by the Operating Standards) or for
temporary closures required to address emergencies, public safety or temporary events.

b) Costs and Expenses. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, Operator
shall, at all times during the Term, pay or cause to be paid all costs, expenses, and taxes, if any,
relating to the Northeast Animal Shelter Operations as and when the same are due and payable.

(c) Scope of Services. Operator shall conduct the Operations at the Northeast Animal
Shelter according to all federal, state, and local laws; shall comply with the terms of the
Injunction; shall take no action that it knows shall cause the City to be in violation of the
Injunction, shall use its best efforts to take approximately 3,000 animals annually from the
Department of Animal Services for adoption through its Operations at the Northeast Valley
Shelter; shall use its best efforts to annually provide approximately 6,000 spay/neuter services
for adopted animals and animals owned by members of the public, and shall provide related
veterinary medical services; shall provide all staffing, equipment, and supplies; shall obtain all
permits, licenses, and registrations required to provide the services described herein at the
Northeast Valley Animal Shelter; and shall coordinate with Department staff to provide these
services:

1. Primary Function - On-site pet adoptions and periodic pet adoption events:

e With the exception of animals being housed there by the City temporarily whether for
transports or as a result of an Emergency, animals at the Northeast Valley Animal
Shelter will be the legal property of Operator until they are adopted out to the public
or transferred to a rescue group. Animal transfers to other rescue groups will be
limited and must be approved by the Department. Animals sent for fostering must
remain available and advertised for adoption and will not count toward the 100 dog
and cat minimum.

e On average a combined minimum of 100 dogs and cats available for adoption will be
housed and cared for at the Northeast Animal Shelter by Operator

e Operator will be the adoption facilitator providing animal care, training, grooming
and marketing to find the animals homes.

e Operator will receive all animals to be adopted from the Shelter from the Department
of Animal Services. No other animals will be accepted by or adopted out of the
Shelter. To maintain its required inventory of adoptable animals, Operator will be
entitled to select from the total list of animals available to the City’s New Hope
Partners. Such list shall be made available to Operator on the same time it is
provided to the other New Hope Partners or any other similar program in which
animals are transferred from the Department’s shelters to rescue groups, and no less



frequently than weekly. Operator will not provide any animal intake at the Shelter
and will not accept animals brought to the Shelter by members of the public, who will
be directed to one of the other shelters operated by the Department in order to turn in
their animal.

a. Consistent with Operator’s adoption policy guaranteeing that adopters can
return an animal at any time, Operator may accept and adopt out owner
surrendered or returned animals previously adopted out by Operator at the
Shelter or at adoption events that originated with the Department of Animal
Services.

b. Operator shall not be responsible for failure to reach capacity caused by (i)
insufficient numbers of healthy and otherwise adoptable animals at City
shelters listed by the Department as available for transfer to the Shelter; or (ii)
failure by the Department to cooperate with Operator and transfer animals in a
timely manner; or (iii) other failure by the Department to cooperate with
Operator.

Operator has sole discretion to approve or reject proposed adoptions from the Shelter.
Operator will sell dog licenses or puppy certificates at the Northeast Valley Animal
Shelter to adopters and residents living in the City of Los Angeles. Operator will
collect and remit the $20 dog license fee to the City and will be paid $2.00 or such
other amount as determined by the Board of Animal Services Commissioners and
approved by the City Council, for each dog license or puppy certificate sold
consistent with the guidelines established by the Department. Operator will provide
the Department with the name, address and contact information of all adopters on a
weekly basis, and use its best efforts to insure that adopters residing in the City are in
compliance with City laws governing the number of animals that may be kept by one
person or at one property by not licensing more than three dogs to any person or at
one property nor adopting more than three cats to any one person or property.
Operator will be responsible for spaying or neutering the animals received from the
Department and will only adopt out dogs and cats that have been spayed or neutered.

a. Notwithstanding the foregoing, on rare occasions a veterinarian may
determine that an animal is permanently unfit for spay/neuter surgery due to
age or other health reasons; Operator shall not be prohibited from making
such animals available for adoption, but will provide the name and contact
information and reason for the determination to the Department within 5 days
of the adoption.

Operator may have animal supplies on-site for sale at the Northeast Valley Animal
Shelter that adopters will need to transition their animal into their home.

2. Secondary Function - Low cost spay/neuter surgeries, vaccinations, and medical care for
adopted and owned pets.

Surgical Sterilization. All sterilizations shall include: (a) a physical examination of
the animal, (b) all vaccines and anesthesia that your hospital requires during
hospitalization or before surgery, (c) all after-care including suture removal, licking
problems, infections, and other normal procedures.

a. Cats and dogs available for adoption in the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter.

b. Cats and dogs owned by the public.



Clinic Sub- Agreement. The Department may consider allowing Operator to enter
into a sub-agreement with a reputable non-profit to assist it in providing some of the
spay/neuter setrvices in the clinic in order to allow Operator to increase the overall
level of services to the community and provide more funding for other lifesaving
programs, including wellness programs and vaccine clinic services. Any such sub-
agreement must be approved by the Department. In spite of any such Department-
approved sub-agreement, Operator shall still be responsible for ensuring compliance
with all aspects of this agreement. In addition, Department approval may be
conditioned in part upon Operator’s additional level of service, including but not
limited to providing an additional 1,000 or more spay/neuter surgeries annually for
Department-owned animals and low cost surgeries for City residents, and additional
services such as wellness clinics and vaccine clinics for residents of the City.
Vouchers. Operator shall be allowed to accept vouchers for spay or neuter surgeries
at the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter. A voucher represents a Discount Coupon or
a Free Certificate issued to a Los Angeles resident by the Department for spay or
neuter sterilization of an owned dog, cat, or rabbit. Voucher fees for spay/neuter
surgeries are set by the Board and paid by the Department. If the Board revises said
fees, the Department shall pay the Operator the revised fees effective on the date of
City Council approval. Fees for vouchers (discount coupons and free certificates)
used by members of the public are valued as follows:

Dog Cat Rabbit
Coupon  Certificate Coupon  Certificate Coupon = Certificate
$50 $125 $30 $70 $50 $125

a. Animal owners will transport their owned animal to the Operator along with a
voucher and pick up the animal from Operator after service is completed.

b. Vouchers are non-transferable, are not valid beyond the expiration date printed on
them, and must be presented to Operator at the time of sterilization. Vouchers
may only be used for owned cats owned dogs and owned rabbits, and are not valid
for the sterilization of feral cats. Either a discount coupon or free certificate, but
not both, may be used per animal per sterilization. Vouchers cannot be used for
any veterinary service other than sterilization, nor in combination with any other
program.

c. Operator may charge a co-payment from an animal owner with a discount
coupon. No co-payment or additional fees may be charged to an animal owner
with a free certificate for sterilization including, but not limited to, uterine
infection, pregnant or “in estrus” animals, animals with retained testicles, or
animals weighing more than 50 pounds.

d. Operator will accept discount coupons towards surgery and free certificates as full
payment for surgery. In addition to the sterilization surgeries, Operator will
provide an E-collar and pain medication as part of the discount coupon/free
certificate package. Operator will administer core vaccinations (rabies and
DA2PP or FVRCP) if needed at a discounted rate to the client. Ancillary services,
such as flea and/or ear mite treatment, microchips, and antibiotics (prescribed on
an as-needed basis) may be provided to clients at a cost, which client can accept
or deny



Authority for Expenditure (AFE) — An AFE is issued by the Department for
specific service on a shelter animal. Shelter animals include pre-adoptions, pre-
releases, and post-releases. These animals will be sent to the Operator to be
altered 1) in preparation for adoption; 2) in preparation for pick-up after adoption;
3) after their medical condition is healthy enough for surgery. AFE
reimbursements for spay/neuter surgeries are set by the Board and paid by the
Department. If the Board revises said fees, the Department shall pay the Operator
the revised fees effective on the date of City Council approval. Reimbursement
for AFE’s are valued as follows:

Dog Cat Rabbit
$125 $70 $125

a. Department staff will transport the animal, or in cases of deferred sterilization
approved by Department veterinary staff, the animal owner will transport the
animal, along with an Authority for Expenditure (AFE).

b. No additional fees or co-payments may be charged for the sterilization of
shelter animals, including physical examination, routine hospitalization,
vaccines, and after-care services such as suture removal licking problems,
infections, and other normal procedures. For owned animals that are obese,
geriatric, pregnant, or exhibit uterine infections, in estrus, with retained
testicles(s), or hernias, the Operator shall obtain prior authorization from the
adoptive owner before treatment, as part of its standard consent form.

c. If the Department does not authorize the additional treatment and the Operator
is unable to perform the sterilization of any shelter animal, Department staff
will retrieve the animal. Operator shall absorb all costs of treatment provided
without prior approval from the Department.

d. For animals that have been adopted and are being sent to Operator from the
Department for surgery, but who are deemed by Operator’s veterinarian to be
unsuitable for sterilization that day, Operator shall contact the adopter to
explain that the animal is unfit for surgery and to explain why surgery cannot
be completed on that day. The Operator will ask the adopter if they would
like to pick up the animal and bring it home, or if they no longer want the
animal. If the adopter agrees to pick up the animal, the Operator shall inform
the Department’s medical staff and the shelter, who will issue a D-300 surgery
deferral as described in Section 6(c) below. If the adopter advises the
Operator that he or she no longer wants the animal, he or she shall be
instructed to go to the shelter to process the return, and Operator shall return
the animal to the shelter. The Department shall not reimburse the adopter or
Operator for veterinary fees not authorized by the Department in writing.

e. For adoption events, animals will be brought in for sterilization with an AFE
by Department staff and picked up on the same day of the surgery in
accordance with the arrangement made between Operator and Shelter.
Operator will notify the Shelter where the animal came from if an animal is



unfit for surgery and the Department will retrieve the animal from the
Operator.

e Periodic Vaccine and/or Microchip Clinics.

3. Tertiary Function - Educational, outreach, and development programs and other Animal

Welfare Services as may be offered at the discretion of Operator

¢ Emergency medical treatment of animals;

e Special Events:
a. Pet Adoption Events.
b. Pet Health/Weliness Clinics.

¢ Free Public Education Classes.

e Dog Training Classes for dogs waiting to be adopted from the Shelter, for fostered
dogs and for dogs with valid licenses belonging to the community.

4. Emergency Function — Temporary use for animal housing by City

@ Operational Requirements. Operator shall maintain at all times an approved
written protocol detailing all procedures, including, but not limited to animal handling,
vaccination, anesthesia surgery guidelines, and drug inventory. This protocol must be available
for review and approval by the Department at the inception of this Agreement and at all times
during its term. The Operator shall post this protocol in a public area at all times.

(e) Days and Hours of Operation. Operator shall ensure that the adoption center and
spay/neuter clinic are each open to the public and available to provide services a minimum of
30 hours per week. All hours and days of operation shall be subject to mutual agreement
between Operator and Department and shall be posted in a manner clearly visible to the public.
Operator may not change hours and days of operation without prior written approval from the
Department; such changes must be announced to the public no less than seven (7) calendar days
before they become effective. Operator must notify Department of planned closures no less than
14 calendar days before the closure, and must post notice of said closure for public view. In the
event that Operator's veterinarian will be absent, Operator may retain the temporary services of a
licensed veterinarian to perform necessary surgeries in the absence of Operator's veterinarian,
subject to Department disapproval. The Department reserves the right to have its own veterinary
staff or other veterinarian perform said surgeries if Operator's veterinarian is absent, and in such
cases, Operator shall reimburse the Department for these services.

1)) Equipment and Supplies. Operator shall obtain, at its own expense, all equipment
and supplies to be used in the operation of the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter, including all
food, medical supplies, medicines, cleaning agents, microchips, tools, anesthesia machines,
autoclaves, and any other necessary tools, instruments, supplies, and equipment. Operator shall
maintain in good working order, at its own expense, all equipment used in the operation of the
Northeast Valley Animal Shelter, and shall ensure that repairs or replacement of equipment does
not unreasonably interrupt its services.



(g) Equipment Purchase Option. At the end of the term of this Agreement, and upon
mutual agreement, Department may purchase from Operator, at a mutually-agreed depreciated
price consistent with equipment of comparable age and use, Operator's equipment used in the
operation of the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter. However, the Department shall be under no
obligation to make such purchases.

(%) Cost of Supplies, Services and Personnel. The cost of setting up, staffing,
maintaining and performing services under this Agreement shall be the sole responsibility of
Operator. Notwithstanding the foregoing, City shall reimburse Operator for additional staff,
labor, veterinary and other expenses, including but not necessarily limited to overtime wages,
incurred by Operator in the event (a) the average number of animals being housed for transfer
pursuant to subparagraph (i) below exceed seventy (70) animals in any 2-week period; or (b) if,
as a result of Emergencies, Operator is required to house more than one hundred (100) animals
for more than a forty-eight (48) hour period. Operator shall attempt to minimize any additional
expenses through the use of volunteers; however, within 30 days of the end of such Emergency,
City shall reimburse Operator for such additional expenses. Alternatively, City may use its own
staff, under the direction of Operator, to provide additional resources to mitigate or avoid
reimbursing Operator in the event of the above occurrences. In the event of such Emergency
situation, Operator and City shall use their best efforts to cooperatively manage the facility and
expenses.

(i)  Use by City. The City may use some of the Shelter space at no cost to the City when City
requests such space to temporarily house overflow animals in the event of Emergencies requiring
temporary holding spaces for large animals or a large number of animals. In addition, City will
be able to house animals that are being transferred to other municipalities or organizations
outside of Los Angeles County. Operator shall cooperate with the City to make excess kennel
and such other spaces available. Such use by the City will count toward the 100 minimum
animals that Operator is required to have at any time. Operator shall house more than one animal
per cage space when such housing is feasible and safe and maintain the Shelter in a manner that
provides adequate space for such City use.

() With respect to animals being housed for transport to other municipalities or
organizations, the City shall be solely responsible for (a) organizing such transports; (b) medical,
veterinary, and other costs and certificates associated with transporting the animals; and (c)
staffing the transports. Operator, may, at its sole discretion elect to assist organizationally,
logistically, or medically with such transports, but shall have no contractual obligation beyond
housing, feeding, and general care-taking of the animals at the shelter. Operator shall not be
required to house animals that are medically or behaviorally unsuitable for transport and shall
promptly notify the City of such animals.

2) City acknowledges that Operator is equipped and staffed to care only for dogs,
cats, and rabbits. In the event of an Emergency requiring other species of animals to be housed
and cared for at the Shelter, City shall provide staff capable of caring for such animals.

3) Operator shall not be required to move, relocate or find other accommodations
for animals already housed at the Shelter to make room for additional animals pursuant to this



paragraph if such move, relocation or other accommodations would result in animal neglect or
require relocation to another facility.

) Operator shall have the discretion to provide veterinary services to all animals
housed at the Shelter, regardless of whether ownership is with Operator or City.

(5) City shall use commercially reasonable and good faith efforts to provide at least
72 hours advance notice to Operator of any circumstances that may require Operator to house
overflow animals pursuant to this paragraph.

(6) Operator shall permit Animal Control Officers the use of some space in the
Shelter for administrative functions during normal business hours, such as to receive and make
service calls when working in the general area, specifically excluding animal intake functions.
Operator shall have no obligation to provide computers, telephone equipment or administrative
support for use by the City’s Animal Control Officets.

G) Sustainability Plan. In support of the City’s pLAn for sustainability, the Operator
shall ensure that hoses and cleaning supplies are well-maintained to avoid wasting water and
employees are trained to use good water management practices such as not allowing faucets or
hoses to run excessively. Likewise, in the interest of water conservation, the contractor shall
continue to support water wise landscaping and xeriscaping. To assist in the reduction of
greenhouse gas emissions and improving air quality, the Operator shall encourage employees to
carpool, use mass transit, bicycle, or take other steps to reduce the amount of traffic on
roadways. Finally, the Operator will assist in the reduction of paper waste by encouraging
employees to consider whether an item really needs to be printed and affixing default settings on
printers to double-sided printing. The Operator will continue efforts toward paperless
transactions including employee enrollment and on-boarding and volunteer enrollment.

Maintenance and Repair.

(a) Maintenance and Security. The Department of General Services (“GSD”) shall
maintain in good order, condition, and repair the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter and every part
thereof, including, but not limited to: windows and plate glass windows; interior and exterior
walls; floors and ceilings; interior and exterior doors; fixtures; electrical facilities and equipment;
plumbing fixtures and plumbing; and restrooms. GSD agrees to maintain and repair, at GSD’s
sole cost and expense, all of the GSD improvements at the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter,
except for damage caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of Operator, at which time
GSD shall bill Operator for the work performed, and Operator shall pay such bill within thirty
(30) days of receipt of the bill. The Operator may not change the locks without the prior written
consent of GSD, which consent shall be in the GSD's sole and absolute discretion, and which
consent shall require that GSD and the Department be provided with a complete set of all new
keys. Operator shall promptly notify GSD of any maintenance issues or needed repairs including
but not limited to plumbing and electrical issues.

(b) Janitorial, Operator shall be responsible for providing and paying for its
own janitorial/cleaning/housekeeping services and trash collection. Operator shall keep clean the
Northeast Valley Animal Shelter and every part thereof, including, but not limited to, windows,



interior walls, floors and ceilings, doors, fixtures, appliances, plate glass windows and restrooms.
The Operator shall promptly remove all non-hazardous trash and waste generated from its

operations.

(c) No Repair Obligation by the Department of General Services. Notwithstanding
the Department of General Services’ obligation to maintain the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter
in good working order as stipulated in Section 3.3, the Department of General Services shall
have no further obligation to repair, remodel, replace, and/or reconstruct any improvement at the
Northeast Valley Animal Shelter. In the event the Shelter becomes unusable for the purposes
provided herein, the Department of General Services, the Department and Operator agree they
shall meet and discuss necessary repairs or remodeling to restore the Northeast Valley Animal
Shelter to a usable condition. If no agreement can be reached however, Operator's sole remedies
shall be to either correct the deficiencies at its own expense or to terminate this Agreement upon
thirty (30) days prior written notice and provide a copy to the Department, and Operator waives
any other remedy, whether in damages or in specific performance.

(d) Rights Reserved By the Department of General Services. Without limiting any
rights the City may otherwise have under this Agreement, the Department of General Services
specifically reserves the right from time to time, subject to its use of reasonable efforts to
minimize interference with Operator's use and occupancy of the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter
and without compensation to Operator for inconvenience or otherwise:

(i) To install, use, maintain, repair, replace and relocate pipes, ducts, conduits, wires, fixtures
and appurtenant meters and equipment for service to the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter and/or
other parts of the building, in which case the City shall have responsibility for the disturbance, if
any, of asbestos resulting therefrom; and

(i1) To make changes to the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter’s design and layout, including
without limitation, changes in the location, size, shape and number of entrances, loading and
unloading areas, ingress, egress, direction of traffic, walkways, and parking areas.

No Encumbrances. The Operator shall not do any act or thing that will create any Encumbrance
against the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter and shall promptly remove any Encumbrance
against the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter, unless the Encumbrance came into existence as a
result of an act of or omission by the City or a Person claiming through it which in turn was not
caused by an act or omission of the Operator. The Operator shall not be deemed to be in default
hereunder if the Operator continuously, ditigently and in good faith contests any such
Encumbrance, or the validity thereof (or causes such contest), by appropriate legal proceedings
that shall operate to prevent the foreclosure of any such Encumbrance, provided that the
Operator has given (i) advance notification to the City that it is the intent of the Operator to
contest the validity or collection thereof or cause such contest and (ii) unless a bond or other
security is provided in connection with such proceedings, a satisfactory indemnity to the City or
deposit with the City a letter of credit, title insurance endorsement (or similar instrument),
indemnity bond, surety bond, cash or eligible investment reasonably satisfactory to the City in an
amount equal to the amount of the claim or Encumbrance, plus such interest and penalties, court
costs, or other charges as the City may reasonably estimate to be payable by the Operator at the



conclusion of such contest or as is required to provide insurance over any potential
Encumbrance; provided, however, that in the event such Letter of Credit, cash or Eligible
Investment shall be so deposited, the same shall be held until such claim or other imposition
shall have been released and discharged and shall thereupon be returned to Operator, less any
amounts reasonably expended by the City to procure such release or discharge, or any loss, cost,
damage, reasonable attorneys’ fees or expense incurred by the City by virtue of the contest of
such Encumbrance.

Rights of the City to Access and Perform Work on the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter

(©) Reservation of Rights. The City reserves (for itself and any of its
Representatives) and shall, at all times during the Term, have the right to enter the Northeast
Valley Animal Shelter and each and every part thereof at all reasonable times and upon
reasonable prior notice to perform each of the following at the City’s own cost and expense
(other than if pursuant to clause (ii) or (iii)):

(i) to inspect the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter or determine whether or not
the Operator is in compliance with its obligations under this Agreement or applicable Law;

(ii) if a Operator Default then exists, to make any necessary repairs to the
Northeast Valley Animal Shelter and perform any work therein pursuant to Section 12.1(b)(iii);

(iii) in the event of an emergency or danger that threatens to cause injury to
individuals (or damage to property) or to impair the continuous operation of the Northeast Valley
Animal Shelter and if Operator is not then taking all necessary steps to rectify or deal with said
emergency or danger, to take actions as may be reasonably necessary to rectify such emergency
or danger (in which case, no notice shall be necessary);

(iv) as may be necessary to design, construct, operate, service, manage, maintain,
repair, rehabilitate or replace any Affected Property owned or controlled by the City that is
located within or adjacent to the Shelter, including, without limitation, congestion, management
equipment and signage, utilities and storage and maintenance facilities located within portions of
the Affected Property that are located within the Shelter;

v) to design, construct, operate, service, manage, maintain, repair, rehabilitate or
replace any Affected Property;

(vi) to (A) install, design, manage, maintain, repair and rehabilitate any existing
or future utilities or similar services (whether provided by the City or third parties at the City’s
instruction) in, on, under, across, over or through the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter (including
water and sewer lines, power transmission lines, fiber optic cable, other communications and
other equipment), (B) grant easements and rights on, over, under or within the Northeast Valley
Animal Shelter for the benefit of suppliers or owners of any such utilities or services and (C) use
the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter in connection with any such installation, design,
management, maintenance, repair or rehabilitation (provided that notwithstanding the foregoing
clauses (A), (B) and (C), the Operator shall have the right, at all times during the Term, to install,
design, manage, maintain, repair and rehabilitate utilities or other services for its own account



(and not for lease, resale or service to third parties) to the extent that the said utilities or services
are necessary for the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter Operations); and

(vii) to, solely in accordance with the terms hereof, do any other act or thing that
the City may be obligated to do or have a right to do under this Agreement.; provided, however,
that the City shall not be obligated to make any payments to Operator for such access and the
City shall use reasonable efforts to minimize interference with the Northeast Valley Animal
Shelter Operations in connection with any entry on the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter pursuant

to this Section 3.5(a).

(d) Effect of Reservation. Any reservation of a right by the City and any of their
Representatives, grantees, tenants, mortgagees, licensees and others claiming by, through or
under the City to enter the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter and to make or perform any repairs,
alterations, restoration or other work in, to, above, or about the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter
which is Operator’s obligation pursuant to this Agreement, shall not be deemed to (i) impose any
obligation on the City to do so, (ii) render the City liable to Operator or any other Person for the
failure to do so or (iii) relieve Operator from any obligation to indemnify the City as otherwise
provided in this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall impose any duty upon the part of
the City to do any work required to be performed by Operator hereunder and performance of any
such work by the City and any of their Representatives, grantees, tenants, mortgagees, licensees
and others claiming by, through or under the City shall not constitute a waiver of Operator’s

default in failing to perform the same.

Section 3.6. Payment of Taxes. Operator shall pay when due all Taxes payable during the
Term in respect of the operations at or conduct of business in or from the Northeast Valley
Animal Shelter, including any Taxes imposed on customers of the Northeast Valley Animal
Shelter as required by the applicable Law. Operator shall have no obligation whatsoever to pay
property taxes assessed against the property; City shall have sole responsibility for paying any
and all property taxes.

Section 3.7. Los Angeles City Business Tax. Operator represents that it will obtain and
will hold from the time of Closing through the End Date, the Business Tax Registration
Certificate(s) required by the City’s Business Tax Ordinance, Section 21.00 ef seq. of the Los
Angeles Municipal Code. For the Term of this Agreement, Operator shall maintain, or obtain as
necessary, all such Certificates required of it under the Business Tax Ordinance, and shall not
allow any such Certificate to be revoked or suspended.

Section 3.8. Utilities. Operator shall pay when due all charges (including all applicable
Taxes and fees) for telephone and other utilities and services used in the Northeast Valley
Animal Shelter Operations or supplied to the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter during the Term.
Upon request of the City, Operator shall forward to the City, within 15 days following the
respective due dates, official receipts, photocopies thereof, or other evidence satisfactory to the
City, acting reasonably, of the payment required to be made by Operator in accordance with this
Section 3.8. The City does not warrant that any utility services will be free from interruptions
caused by war, insurrection, civil commotion, riots, acts of God, government action, terrorism,
repairs, renewals, improvements, alterations, strikes, lockouts, picketing, whether legal or illegal,
accidents, inability to obtain fuel or supplies or any other causes, and any such interruption of



utility services in and of itself shall never be deemed a disturbance of Operator’s use of the
Northeast Valley Animal Shelter, or render the City liable to Operator for damages or relieve
Operator from performance of Operator’s obligations under this Agreement. City shall pay when
due all charges (including all applicable Taxes and fees) for gas, electricity, and water supplied
to the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter during the Term, which amount when combined with the
costs of having GSD maintain the Shelter in good order, condition, and repair as provided in
Section 3.3 above, shall not to exceed $200,000 annually. This amount may be adjusted annually
in the GSD budget by the City Council to reflect increases in the cost of material or gas,
electricity, and water. Any costs in excess of the annual maximum shall be the responsibility of
Operator, and Operator shall forward to the City, within 30 days following the receipt of a bill,
the amount due, if any.

Section 3.9, Notices of Defaults and Claims. Operator shall promptly give notice to the
City (i) if Operator becomes aware that a Default has occurred under this Agreement (provided,
however, that the failure to give such notice shall not constitute an independent Default) and
(ii) of all material claims, proceedings, disputes (including labor disputes) or litigation in respect
of the Operator pertaining to the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter or the City or the Northeast
Valley Animal Shelter Operations (whether or not such claim, proceeding or litigation is covered
by insurance) of which Operator is aware (other than as a result of a notice to Operator from the
City). Operator shall provide the City with all reasonable information requested by it from time
to time concerning the status of such claims, proceedings or litigation.

Section 3.10. Name and Advertisements.

(a) Names. Operator shall not have the right to sell, lease, or license any naming
rights for the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter, but may use its own name, logos and trademarks
in conjunction with the operation and advertisement of the Shelter so as to clearly indicate that
Best Friends Animal Society is operating an adoption and spay/neuter program from the facility.
Upon approval of the City as to content, Operator may secure such an on-site sign or banner on
the outside of the Shelter identifying that Operator is operating a pet adoption and spay/neuter
facility at the Shelter, such as the “Best Friends Animal Society Pet Adoptions and Spay
Neuter Services” as attached hereto as Attachment I upon obtaining prior approval (and any
required permits) from the City’s Department of Building & Safety for the sign or banner. The
Shelter will retain the name “Northeast Valley Animal Shelter” whose signage will remain
visible at all times, and the City reserves the right at its sole discretion to change its own names,
logos, or marks for the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter. Any uses of the City’s names, logos, or
marks shall be subject to City approval of the location and manner of use and subject to a
separate License Agreement.

(b) Advertisements. Operator shall have the right to advertise its services in and
about the Shelter provided that all advertisements shall comply with (i) the advertising and
signage policy, rules and regulations of the City and the Department regarding interior or
exterior signage and (ii) shall comply with all City codes and requirements and directives
concerning outside signage, including obtaining all required permits from the Department of
Building & Safety. Any advertisement in violation of the Los Angeles Municipal Code, City
directives or the Injunction is expressly prohibited.



©) Signage. Upon written approval of the City, Operator shall have the right to
use its own name, logos, and trademarks in conjunction with signage placed on, in and around
the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter. The size and location of such signage shall comply with
the signage policy, rules and regulations of the City, and may not cover or otherwise obscure
existing Shelter signage.  Any signage in violation of the Los Angeles Municipal Code, City
directives or the Injunction is expressly prohibited. All signs and sign permits will be for on-site
signs only, and will not be transferable to other locations. Upon the termination or expiration of
the Agreement, Operator shall remove the sign or banner and shall have no further rights to the
signage or pursuant to the sign permit.

Section 3.11. Police, Fire, Emergency and Public Safety Access Rights. At all times
during the Term and without notice to Operator (i) any police, fire and emergency services and
any other security or emergency personnel retained by or on behalf of the City shall have access,
as required by such services or personnel, to the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter; (ii) the City
shall have access, as required by the City, to the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter as necessary
for the protection of public safety; provided, however, that inspections by the City for purposes
of determining whether or not Operator is in compliance with its obligations under this
Agreement or applicable Law shall be undertaken pursuant to Section 3.4(a)(i); and (iii) any
Governmental Authority with jurisdiction over the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter shall have
access to the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter as necessary for emergency management and
homeland security purposes, including the prevention of or response to a public safety

emergency.

Payments by the City. Operator acknowledges and agrees that if the City is required under
applicable Law of general application (except with respect to Laws imposed by the City itself) to
withhold a portion of any payment that the City is obligated to make to Operator under this
Agreement, the City will be deemed to have satisfied such payment obligation to Operator to the
extent of such withholding by the City.

Operating Standards — Operator Changes. If Operator, at its cost and expense, wishes to
implement and use operating standards other than the Operating Standards adopted in this
Agreement, Operator must provide notice of such proposed operating standards to the City for
Approval. Operator’s proposed operating standards must be accompanied by an explanation of
Operator’s rationale for making its proposal and all relevant supporting information, certificates,
reports, studies, investigations and other materials as are necessary to demonstrate that
Operator’s proposed operating standards are reasonably designed to achieve the objectives of the
applicable Operating Standards. The City may request any additional supporting information,
certificates, reports, studies, investigations and other materials as are reasonably required by the
City to determine if the Operator’s proposed operating standards are reasonably designed to
achieve the objectives of the applicable Operating Standards. Approval of the Operator’s
proposed operating standards may be withheld, delayed or conditioned only if the City
reasonably determines that Operator’s proposed operating standards are not reasonably designed
to achieve the objectives of the applicable Operating Standards. Until the City provides its
Approval for the implementation of Operator’s proposed operating standards, Operator shall not
implement the proposed operating standards and shall implement and comply with the Operating
Standards. Operator’s proposed operating standards shall be deemed incorporated into the
Operating Standards upon written Approval by the City in accordance with the terms hereof.



Operating Standards — City Changes. The City shall have the right, at any time during the Term,
to modify or change the Operating Standards upon notice to Operator to comply with any new
City Law applicable to the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter Operations. In the event the City
modifies the Operating Standards in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence, the
City, at its cost and expense, shall perform all work required to implement, if any, and shall
comply with all such modifications and changes and in no event shall Operator be excused from
compliance with any such modification or change. Operator may, however, terminate the
Agreement without further cause and without penalty where Operator deems the resulting
modified or changed operating standards to impose an unreasonable financial or administrative
burden or to be incompatible with the Operator’s goals, mission, or philosophy.

(d) Public Purpose Requirements.

The Parties agree that during the Term of this Agreement the City retains its Reserved Powers to
enforce this Agreement and the Operating Standards to ensure that the Northeast Valley Animal
Shelter will be dedicated and used at all times for public benefit purposes intended to promote
and protect the health, safety and welfare of animals and people.

(e) In order to assure that the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter continues to
operate in a manner that benefits the public and fulfills the public purposes set forth in
Section 3.15(a), the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter shall be operated consistent with the
Operator’s standard operating procedures manual dated June 2016.

Leases, Covenants and Easements. Operator must comply with the provisions of all leases,
covenants and easements on the Shelter and in case of any conflict between the provisions of this
Agreement and the leases, covenants and easements on any of the Shelter, the provisions of the
leases, covenants and easements will control.

ARTICLE 4
MODIFICATIONS

Operator Requests. If Operator wishes at any time during the Term to make a fundamental
change in the dimensions, character, quality or location of any part of the Northeast Valley
Animal Shelter, then Operator may submit to the City, for approval, an Operator Request with
respect to such change and shall submit to the City for its approval specific plans with respect to
any such work, Changes that only affect Operator’s personal property shall not be considered
“fundamental changes.” Operator shall be responsible for all amounts required to implement an
approved Operator Request (and any costs or losses incurred in connection therewith). No
Operator Request shall be implemented unless and until such Operator Request has been
approved by the City.

Performance of Modifications. Subject to the other provisions of this Article 4, Operator shall
ensure that an approved Operator Request is performed in a good and workmanlike manner and
diligently complies with and is implemented in such manner that the costs and delays relating
thereto are minimized.



ARTICLE 5
ALTERATIONS AND IMPROVEMENTS

Alterations and Improvements.

(a) City Approval. With the prior written approval of City, Operator may make alterations
and improvements to the Shelter (““Alterations™) which do not affect the (i) exterior appearance
of the Shelter, or (ii) structural aspects of the Shelter, as long as Operator pays for the entire cost
of such Alterations, and as long as Operator agrces to remove said Alterations upon the
expiration or termination of the Agreement, if requested by the City. Any time Operator
proposes to make such Alterations, Operator shall provide City with prior written notice of the
proposed Alterations, together with the plans and specifications. Notwithstanding anything to
the contrary set forth above, Operator may make, without City’s prior written consent but after
seven (7) days’ notice to City, Alterations which (i) do not require any structural or any
substantial modification to the Shelter, (ii) do not affect the Structure Systems, (iii) do not affect
the exterior appearance of the Shelter, and (iv) do not cost in excess of Fifty Thousand Dollars
($50,000), adjusted for inflation from the Closing Date. Installation and placement of exterior
building signage shall require prior written notice to City. Operator’s placement of non-
structural visual barriers such as moveable partitions in the interior of the Shelter shall not be
subject to either the notice or approval requirements. However, visual barriers will be removed

by Operator if so requested by the City.

(b) “Structure Systems” - Defined. As used in this Article 5, the phrase “Structure Systems”
shall mean any machinery, transformers, duct work, conduit, pipe, bus duct, cable, wires, and
other equipment, facilities, and systems, to the extent within the Shelter, designed to supply heat,
ventilation, air conditioning and humidity or any other services or utilities, or comprising or
serving as any component or portion of the electrical, gas, steam, plumbing, sprinkler,
communications, alarm, security, or fire/life safety systems or equipment, or any other
mechanical, electrical, electronic, computer, or other systems or equipment which service the
Shelter in whole or in part; provided, however, that such equipment, facilities, and systems which
serve solely the Shelter or Operator with respect to communications, alarm, security, and
computer systems shall not be considered part of the Structure Systems to the extent that such
equipment, facilities, and systems may be accessed and altered without interference with any

Structure Systems.

(c) Manner of Construction. City may impose reasonable requirements as a condition of its
consent to all Alterations or repairs of the Shelter or about the Shelter, including, but not limited
to, the requirement that upon City’s request, Operator shall, at Operator’s expense, remove such
Alterations upon the expiration or any early termination of the Term, and/or the requirement,
with respect to work on the Structure Systems, that Operator utilize for such purposes only
contractors, materials, mechanics, and material providers approved by City. City may require
Operator to provide City, at Operator’s sole cost and expense, a lien and completion bond in an
amount equal to one and one-half times the estimated cost of such improvements, to insure City
against any liability for claims or purported mechanic’s and materialmen’s liens and to insure
completion of the work. Operator shall construct such Alterations and perform such repairs in
conformance with any and all applicable rules and regulations of any federal, state, county or
municipal code or ordinance and pursuant to a valid building permit, issued by the City, in



conformance with City’s reasonable construction rules and regulations. All work with respect to
any Alterations must be done in a good and professional manner and diligently prosecuted to
completion to the end that the Premises shall at all times be a complete unit except during the
period of work. In performing the work of any such Alterations, Operator shall have the work
performed in such manner as not to obstruct access to the Shelter. Upon completion of any
Alterations, Operator agrees at the request of City to cause a Notice of Completion to be
recorded in the office of the Recorder of the County of Los Angeles in accordance with
Section 3093 of the California Civil Code or any successor statute, and Operator shall deliver to
City a reproducible copy of the “as-built” drawings, if any, of the Alterations.

(d) Construction Insurance. In the event Operator makes any Alterations, Operator agrees to
carry “Builder’s All Risk” insurance in an amount equal to the value of construction and
materials on hand.

(e) Payment for Alterations. Where the work under this Article 5 is performed by City
and/or City’s contractor, the charges for such work shall be payable within sixty (60) days of the
receipt by Operator of a sufficiently itemized invoice and billing therefor upon the substantial
completion of such work. Where the work under this Article 5 is performed by Operator or
Operator’s contractor, upon completion of such work, Operator shall deliver to City, where
applicable, evidence of payment, contractors® affidavits and full and final waivers of all liens for
labor, services, and materials.

(f) Ownership of Alterations. All Alterations, fixtures, and equipment which may be
installed or placed in or about the Shelter, from time to time, shall be at the sole cost of Operator,
and as a condition to City’s consent to any Alteration, City requires that Operator remove any
Alteration upon the expiration or early termination of the Term, unless City agrees in writing
otherwise, Operator must remove at Operator’s expense such Alterations and to repair any
damage to the Shelter caused by such removal. If Operator fails to complete such removal or to
repair any damage caused by the removal of any Alterations, City may do so and may charge the
cost thereof to Operator. Any Alterations, fixtures, and equipment remaining at the Shelter after
the vacation of the Premises by Operator shall be deemed abandoned and may be disposed of or
kept by the City.

(g) Equipment Purchase Option. At the end of the term of this Agreement, and upon mutual
agreement, Department may purchase from Operator at a mutually-agreed depreciated price
consistent with equipment of comparable age and use, Operator's equipment used in the
operation of the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter. However, the Department shall be under no
obligation to make such purchases.

(h) Mechanics’ Liens. Operator shall pay, when due, all claims for labor or materials
furnished or alleged to have been furnished to or for Operator at or for use in the Shelter, which
claims made against City and/or purport to be secured by any mechanic’s or materialmen’s lien
against the Shelter, or any interest therein. If Operator fails to pay such claims or demands or if
Operator shall, in good faith, contest the validity of any such lien, claim or demand, then
Operator shall, at its sole expense, defend itself and City against the same and shall pay and
satisfy any such adverse judgment that may be rendered thereon before the enforcement thereof
against the City or the Shelter, upon the condition that if City shall require, Operator shall furnish



to City a surety bond satisfactory to City in an amount equal to such contested lien, claim or
demand indemnifying City against liability for the same and holding the Northeast Valley
Animal Shelter property free from the effect of such lien or claim. In addition, City may require
Operator to pay City’s reasonable attorneys® fees and costs in participating in such action if City
shall decide it is to City’s best interest so to do.

(1) Nonresponsibility and Work Commencement Notices. City shall have the right at all
times to post and keep posted on the Center any notices permitted or required by law, or which
City shall deem proper for the protection of City and the Shelter, and any other party having an
interest therein, from liens, and Operator shall give to City at least ten (10) business days prior
written notice of the expected date of commencement of and work relating to Alterations or

additions to the Shelter.

() Failure to Comply with Conditions. Should Operator make any Alterations without the
prior approval of City, or, where required, use a contractor not expressly approved by City, or
otherwise fail to comply with the conditions of this Article 5, City may, at any time during the
Term, require that Operator remove any part or all of the same.

(k) Environmental Compliance. City represents and warrants that the Northeast Valley
Animal Shelter was built in compliance with the Environmental Laws of the United States, State
of California, and the County and City of Los Angeles. In the event of a change in federal or
state Environmental Laws requiring structural changes to the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter in
order to remain in compliance with applicable Environmental Laws, including those governing
the disposal of animal waste, City shall bear the expense of, and be liable for same. Operator is
responsible for compliance with CEQA, if applicable, in regard to any alterations and
improvements performed or requested by Operator, and is responsible for compliance with
CEQA in the management and operation of its programs and activities at the Northeast Valley

Animal Shelter.

ARTICLE 6
FEES; REVENUES

Fee Revenues. Operator shall, at all times during the Term, (i) have the right to establish, collect
and enforce payment of fees set forth in Attachment C (Maximum Fees) for services provided
at the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter in accordance with the provisions of Article 6 of this
Agreement and (ii) have the right, title, entitlement and interest in these fees during the Term of
this Agreement. For the Term of this Agreement the Fees shall not exceed the rates set forth in
Attachment C (Maximum Fees) adjusted for inflation not to exceed an annual 5% and
commencing one year from the date of execution of the Agreement.

Fee Rate Notices. Operator shall provide to the City, no later than the end of each fiscal year,
notice of the fees and types of fees charged by the Operator for services provided at the
Northeast Valley Animal Shelter. Such notice shall include the fees and types of fees charged
during the prior fiscal year and expected to be charged during the next fiscal year. Such notice
shall be provided by Operator to the City solely for informational purposes and, consistent with
and to the extent permitted by this Article 6 and Attachment C, such rates may be changed at



any time and from time to time by Operator without the prior approval of the City, but notice of
such changes shall be given to the City. Consistent with and to the extent permitted by this
Article 6 and Attachment C, Operator may charge different types of fees as it determines are
appropriate in its discretion, including variable fees, weekday, weekend and special event fees
and discounts to be determined by Operator.

ARTICLE 7
REPORTING; AUDITS; INSPECTIONS
Reports.
(a) Incident Management and Notifications. Operator shall provide notice to

the City within 24 hours of all emergencies, and promptly provide notice to the City of all
accidents and incidents occurring on or at the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter, and of all claims
in excess of $50,000 made by or against Operator, or potential claims in excess of $50,000 that
Operator reasonably expects to make against, or to be made against it by, third parties.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Operator shall not be required to provide City with notice of
worker injuries reported to Operator in accordance with its workplace policies and workers’
compensation reporting requirements, except in situations resulting in death or great bodily

injury.

(b) Environmental Incident Management and Notifications. Operator shall
provide notice to the City within 24 hours following Operator becoming aware of the discharge,
dumping, spilling (accidental or otherwise) of any reportable quantity as defined under
applicable Environmental Law, of Hazardous Substances occurring on or at the Northeast Valley
Animal Shelter and the location at which the incident has occurred, the time, the agencies
involved, the damage that has occurred and the remedial action taken.

() Financial Reports. Until the End Date, Operator shall deliver to the City
(i) within 130 days of the end of each calendar Year, a copy of Operator’s audited financial
statements, including its Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Activities, Statement of
Cash Flows, and Notes to the Financial Statements with the report of the independent certified
public accountant. Such financial statements shall reflect the consistent application of such
accounting principles throughout the periods involved, except as disclosed in the notes to such
financial statements.

Information.

(d) Furnish Information. Operator shall, at Operator’s cost and expense, at
the request of the City and at any and all reasonable times during the Term: (i) make available or
cause to be made available (and, if requested by the City, furnish or cause to be furnished) to the
City all Information relating to the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter Operations, this Agreement
or the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter as may be specified in such request and as shall be in the
possession or control of Operator or its Representatives, and (ii) permit the City, upon 10
Business Days’ prior notice to Operator (which notice shall identify the persons the City requests
to be present for an interview and describe with reasonable specificity the subject matter to be
raised in the interview), to meet with and discuss the obligations of the Operator under this



Agreement with any of the directors, officers, employees or managers of Operator or with their
respective Representatives (it being agreed that Operator and/or its legal counsel shall have the
right to be present during any such discussions with Operator or Representatives of the
Operator), for the putpose of enabling the City to determine whether Operator is in compliance
with this Agreement, provided that, in the case of investigations of possible criminal conduct or
City ordinance violations, no prior notice shall be required to Operator. For the avoidance of
doubt, this Section 7.2(a) does not impose a requirement to retain Information not otherwise
retained in the normal course of business or required to be retained by applicable Law.
Furthermore, said obligation to furnish information shall not require Operator to make available
or otherwise disclose information regarding the identity of its donors, including donors directing
funds to support the operations of the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter. Operator’s donor list
shall at all times be the confidential, privileged and proprietary information of Operator, and the
donor list shall be solely owned by Operator.

(e) Confidentiality. Unless disclosure is required by applicable Law, the City
shall keep confidential any Information obtained from Operator or its Representatives that
(i) pursuant to the California Public Records Act, California Government Code Section 6250 et
seq., where Operator has placed City on notice that the information constitutes trade secrets or
commercial or financial information (A) where the trade secrets or commercial or financial
information are proprietary, privileged or confidential, or (B) where disclosure of the trade
secrets or commercial or financial information may cause competitive harm to Operator and
(ii) is designated as such by Operator in writing to the City; provided, however, that the City
shall have the right to determine, in its reasonable discretion, whether any exceptions to
disclosure from the California Public Records Act apply to any such Information; provided
Jurther that in the event the City determines that the California Public Records Act requires
disclosure of such Information, the City shall provide reasonable notice to, and shall consult with
Operator prior to disclosure of such Information. In the event that the Operator requests the City
to defend an action seeking the disclosure of Information that Operator deems to be confidential
pursuant to this Section 7(b), the Operator shall reimburse the City for the reasonable costs and
expenses (including attorneys’ fees of the prevailing party) incurred by the City in defending any

such action.

® Inspection, Audit and Review Rights of the City.
Audit Right. In addition to the rights set out in Section 7.2, the City may, at all reasonable times,
upon 10 Business Days’ prior notice, except in the case of investigations of possible criminal
conduct or City ordinance violations, in which case no prior notice shall be required, cause a
Representative designated by it to carry out an Audit of the Information required to be
maintained or delivered by Operator under this Agreement in connection with the performance
of the Northeast Animal Shelter Operations for the purpose of verifying the information
contained therein and shall be entitled to make copies thereof and to take extracts therefrom, at
the City’s expense, but, in any event, subject to Section 7.2(b). Operator, at the cost and expense
of Operator, shall, at reasonable times, make available or cause to be made available to the City
or its designated Representative such information and material as may reasonably be required by
the City or its designated Representative for its purposes and otherwise provide such cooperation
as may be reasonably required by the City in connection with the same.




(8 Inspection Right. The City and its Representatives shall, at all reasonable
times and upon reasonable prior notice, have access to the Northeast Animal Shelter and every
part thereof and Operator, at the reasonable cost and expense of Operator, shall and shall cause
its Representatives to furnish the City with every reasonable assistance for inspecting the
Northeast Animal Shelter and the Northeast Animal Shelter Operations for the purpose of
Auditing the Information or ascertaining compliance with this Agreement and applicable Law.

(h) Tests. The City and its Representatives shall, with the prior consent of
Operator (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), except in the case
of investigations of possible criminal conduct or City ordinance violations, in which case no
consent shall be required, be entitled, at the sole cost and expense of the City, and at any time
and from time to time, to perform or cause to be performed any test, study or investigation in
connection with the Northeast Animal Shelter or the Northeast Animal Shelter Operations as the
City may reasonably determine to be necessary in the circumstances and Operator, at its own
cost and expense, shall and shall cause its Representatives to furnish the City or its
Representatives with reasonable assistance in connection with the carrying out of such tests,
procedures, studies and investigations.

Q) No Waiver. Failure by the City or its Representatives to inspect, review,
test or Audit Operator’s responsibilities under this Agreement or any part thereof or the
Information, shall not constitute a waiver of any of the rights of the City hereunder or any of the
obligations or liabilities of Operator hereunder. Inspection, review, testing or Audit not followed
by a notice of Operator Default shall not constitute a waiver of any Operator Default or
constitute an acknowledgement that there has been or will be compliance with this Agreement
and applicable Law.

G) No Undue Interference. In the course of performing its inspections,
reviews, tests and Audits hereunder, the City shall minimize the effect and duration of any
disruption to or impairment of the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter Operations or Operator’s
rights or responsibilities under this Agreement, having regard to the nature of the inspections,
reviews, tests and Audits being performed, except as necessary in the case of investigations of
possible criminal conduct or City ordinance violations.

Audits, Assistance, Inspections and Approvals. Wherever in this Agreement reference is made
to the City or its Representatives providing assistance, services, Approvals or consents to or on
behalf of Operator or its Representatives or to the City or its Representatives performing an
Audit or inspecting, testing, reviewing or examining the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter, the
Northeast Valley Animal Shelter Operations or any part thereof or the books, records,
documents, budgets, proposals, requests, procedures, certificates, plans, drawings, specifications,
contracts, agreements, schedules, reports, lists or other instruments of the Operator or its
Representatives, such undertaking by the City or its Representatives shall not relieve or exempt
Operator from, or represent a waiver of, any requirement, liability, Operator Default, covenant,
agreement or obligation under this Agreement or at law or in equity and shall not create or
impose any requirement, liability, covenant, agreement or obligation (including an obligation to
provide other assistance, services or Approvals) on the City or its Representatives not otherwise
created or imposed pursuant to the express provisions of this Agreement.



ARTICLE 8
COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

Compliance with Laws. Operator must at all times at its own cost and expense observe and
comply, in all material respects, and cause the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter Operations to
observe and comply, in all material respects, with all applicable Federal, California and local
Laws now existing or later in effect that are applicable to it or such Northeast Animal Valley
Shelter Operations, including but not limited to Federal, State and local laws pertaining to the
operation of animal shelters and the care of animals and with the terms of the Injunction as it
pertains to the operation of the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter and those Laws expressly
enumerated in this Article 8. Operator must notify the City within seven days after receiving
notice from a Governmental Authority that Operator may have violated any Laws as described

above.

Section 8.1. Injunction. Operator shall, at all times, be required to comply with the
Injunction. Consistent with the restrictions in the Injunction, with respect to the operation of
the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter, Operator is prohibited from and shall not knowingly:

(a) engage in TNR for feral cats at the Northeast Animal Shelter;

(b) perform spay or neuter surgeries on feral cats or ship feral cats from the Shelter to other
locations for spay or neuter surgeries;

(c) disseminate TNR information from Northeast Animal Shelter nor have a link on any
Northeast Valley Animal Shelter website to TNR information or groups;

(d) move feral cats to other locations for TNR purposes;

(¢) knowingly release feral cats from the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter to TNR groups or
individuals for release or return into colonies;

(f) develop or distribute TNR literature from or associated with the Northeast Animal
Shelter;

(g) refer complaints about feral cats to TNR groups or individuals who engage in TNR;

(h) conduct any educational, outreach, or development programs related to feral cats or TNR
of feral cats.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Agreement shall be interpreted to preclude
Operator from engaging in TNR activities generally from any other facility or location, from
disseminating TNR information, or linking to other organizations involved in TNR activity on or
through its website if not connected to the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter. Moreover, Operator
shail inform individuals who affirmatively request information about TNR at the Northeast
Valley Animal Shelter that “Because of an injunction against the City of Los Angeles, which
owns this facility, we can’t provide you with any information about TNR or engage in any TNR-
related activities from this location.”



Non-Discrimination.

(i) Non-Discrimination in Use of Premises. There shall be no discrimination
against or segregation of any person, or group of persons, on account of race, religion, national
origin, ancestry, sex, sexual orientation, age, physical handicap, marital status, domestic partner
status, or medical condition in the use, occupancy, tenure, or enjoyment of the Northeast Valley
Animal Shelter or any operations or activities conducted on the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter
nor shall Operator or any person claiming under or through Operator establish or permit any such
practice or practices of discrimination or segregation.

)] Non-Discrimination in Employment. Operator agrees and obligates itself
in the performance of this Agreement not to discriminate against any employee or applicant for
employment because of the employee’s or applicant’s race, religion, national origin, ancestry,
sex, sexual orientation, age, physical handicap, marital status, domestic partner status, or medical
condition.

(k) Equal Employment Practices. This Agreement is a contract with or on
behalf of the City of Los Angeles for which the consideration is $1,000 or more. Accordingly,
during the performance of this Agreement, Operator further agrees to comply with Section 10.8.3
of the Administrative Code (“Equal Employment Practices”). By way of specification but not
limitation, pursuant to Sections 10.8.3.E and 10.8.3.F of the Los Angeles Administrative Code,
the failure of Operator to comply with the Equal Employment Practices provisions of this
Agreement may be deemed to be a material breach of this Agreement. No such finding shall be
made or penalties assessed except upon a full and fair hearing after notice and an opportunity to
be heard has been given to Operator. Upon a finding duly made that Operator has failed to
comply with the equal employment practices provisions of this Agreement, this Agreement may
be forthwith terminated.

() Affirmative Action Program. This Agreement is a non-construction
contract with or on behalf of the City for which the consideration is $100,000 or more.
Accordingly, during the performance of this Agreement, Operator further agrees to comply with
Section 10.8.4 of the Administrative Code (“Affirmative Action Program”), with respect to its
operations at the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter. By way of specification but not limitation,
pursuant to Sections 10.8.4.E and 10.8.4.F of the Los Angeles Administrative Code, the failure
of Operator to comply with the Affirmative Action Program provisions of this Agreement may
be deemed to be a material breach of this Agreement. No such finding shall be made or penalties
assessed except upon a full and fair hearing after notice and an opportunity to be heard has been
given to Operator. Upon a finding duly made that Operator has breached the Affirmative Action
Program provisions of this Agreement, this Agreement may be forthwith terminated.

(m) Equal Benefits Provisions. This Agreement is subject to Section 10.8.2.1,
Article 1, Chapter 1, Division 10 of the Administrative Code (“Equal Benefits Provisions™)
related to equal benefits to employees. Operator agrees to comply with the provisions of Section
10.8.2.1. By way of specification but not limitation, pursuant to Section 10.8.2.1.c of the
Administrative Code, the failure of Operator to comply with the Equal Employment Practices
provisions of this Agreement may be deemed to be a material breach of this Agreement. No
such finding shall be made or penalties assessed except upon a full and fair hearing after notice




and an opportunity to be heard has been given to Operator. Upon a finding duly made that
Operator has failed to comply with the Equal Employment Practices provisions of this
Agreement, this Agreement may be forthwith terminated.

(n) Service Contract Worker Retention Ordinance. This Agreement is
subject to the Service Contract Worker Retention Ordinance (“SCWRO™) (Section 10.36, et seq.,
of the Administrative Code. The SCWRO requires that, unless specific exemptions apply, all
employers (as defined) under contracts that are primarily for the furnishing of services to or for
the City and that involve an expenditure or receipt in excess of $25,000 and a contract term of at
least three (3) months shall provide retention by a successor contractor for a ninety-day (90-day)
transition period of the employees who have been employed for the preceding twelve (12)
months or more by the terminated contractor or subcontractor, if any, as provided for in the
SCWRO. Under the provisions of Section 10.36.3(c) of the Administrative Code, City has the
authority, under appropriate circumstances, to terminate this Agreement and otherwise pursue
legal remedies that may be available if City determines that the subject contractor violated the

provisions of the SCWRO.,

(0) Child Support Assignment Orders. This Agreement is subject to
Section 10.10, Article 1, Chapter 1, Division 10 of the Administrative Code related to Child
Support Assignment Orders. Pursuant to this Section, Operator (and any subcontractor of
Operator providing services to City under this Agreement shall (i) fully comply with all State
and Federal employment reporting requirements for Operator’s or Operator’s subcontractor’s
employees applicable to Child Support Assignment Orders; (ii) certify that the principal owner(s)
of Operator and applicable subcontractors are in compliance with any Wage and Earnings
Assignment Orders and Notices of Assignment applicable to them personally; (iii) fully comply
with all lawfully served Wage and Earnings Assignment Orders and Notices of Assignment in
accordance with California Family Code section 5230, et seq.; and (iv) maintain such
compliance throughout the Term of this Agreement. Pursuant to Section 10.10.b of the
Administrative Code, failure of Operator or an applicable subcontractor to comply with all
applicable reporting requirements or to implement lawfully served Wage and Eamnings
Assignment Orders and Notices of Assignment or the failure of any principal owner(s) of
Operator or applicable subcontractors to comply with any Wage and Earnings Assignment
Orders and Notices of Assignment applicable to them personally shall constitute a default of this
Agreement subjecting this Agreement to termination where such failure shall continue for more
than ninety (90) days after notice of such failure to Operator by City (in lieu of any time for cure

provided in Section 12.1.

(p) General Provisions: Living Wage Policy. This Agreement is subject to
the Living Wage Ordinance (“LWO?”) (Section 10.37, ef seq., of the Administrative Code. The
LWO requires that, unless specific exemptions apply, any employees of the Operator are covered
by the LWO if any of the following applies: (1) the services are rendered on premises at least of
portion of which are visited by substantial numbers of the public on a frequent basis, (2) any of
the services could feasibly be performed by City employees if the awarding authority had the
requisite financial and staffing resources, or (3) the designated administrative agency of the City
has determined in writing that coverage would further the proprietary interests of the City.
Employees covered by the LWO are required to be paid not less than a minimum wage rate, as
adjusted each year. The LWO also requires that employees be provided with at least twelve (12)



compensated days off per year for sick leave, vacation, or personal necessity at the employee’s
request, and at least ten (10} additional days per year of uncompensated time pursuant to
Section 10.37.2(b). The LWO requires employers to inform employees making less than twelve
dollars ($12.00) per hour of their possible right to the federal Earned Income Tax Credit
(“EITC”) and to make available the forms required to secure advance EITC payments from the
employer pursuant to Section 10.37.4. Operator shall permit access to work sites for authorized
City representatives to review the operation, payroll, and related documents, and to provide
certified copies of the relevant records upon request by the City. Whether or not subject to the
LWO, Operator shall not retaliate against any employee claiming non-compliance with the
provisions of the LWO, and, in addition, pursuant to Section 10.37.6(c), Operator agrees to
comply with federal law prohibiting retaliation for union organizing.

(@ Living Wage Coverage Determination. The CAO has made the initial
determination that this Agreement is subject to the LWO. Operator, although subject to the
LWO, may be exempt from most of the requirements of the LWO if Operator qualifies for such
exemption under the provisions of the LWO. Determinations as to whether an employer or
employee is exempt from coverage under the LWO are not final, but are subject to review and
revision as additional facts are examined and/or other interpretations of the law are considered.
Applications for exemption must be renewed every two (2) years. To the extent Operator claims
non-coverage or exemption from the provisions of the LWO, the burden shall be on Operator to
prove such non-coverage or exemption, and, where applicable, renew such exemption.

(r) Compliance; Termination Provisions and Other Remedies. Living Wage
Policy. If Operator is not initially exempt from the LWO, Operator shall comply with all of the
provisions of the LWO, including payment to employees at the minimum wage rates, effective
on the Execution Date of this Agreement, and shall execute a Declaration of Compliance Form
contemporaneously with the execution of this Agreement. If Operator is initially exempt from
the LWQO, but later no longer qualifies for any exemption, Operator shall, at such time as
Operator is no longer exempt, comply with the provisions of the LWO and execute the then-
currently used Declaration of Compliance Form, or such form as the LWO requires. Under the
provisions of Section 10.37.6(c) of the Los Angeles Administrative Code, violation of the LWO
shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement and City shall be entitled to terminate this
Agreement and otherwise pursue legal remedies that may be available, including those set forth
in the LWO, if City determines that Operator violated the provisions of the LWO. The
procedures and time periods provided in the LWO are in lieu of the procedures and time periods
provided in Section 12.1 of this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to
extend the time periods or limit the remedies provided in the LWO.

(s) Tax Registration Certificates and Tax Payments. This Section 8.2(k) is
applicable where Operator is engaged in business within the City of Los Angeles and Operator is
required to obtain a Tax Registration Certificate (“TRC”) pursuant to one or more of the
following articles (collectively “Tax Ordinances™) of Chapter II of the Los Angeles Municipal
Code: Article 1 (Business Tax Ordinance) [section 21.00, et seq.], Article 1.3 (Commercial
Operator’s Occupancy Tax) [section 21.3.1, et seq.], Article 1.7 (Transient Occupancy Tax)
[section 21.7.1, et seq.], or Article 1.11 (Payroll Expense Tax) [section 21.11.1, ef seq.]. Prior to
the execution of this Agreement, or the effective date of any extension of the Term or renewal of
this Agreement, the Operator shall provide to the CAO proof satisfactory to the CAO that




Operator has the required TRCs and that Operator is not then currently delinquent in any tax
payment required under the Tax Ordinances. City may terminate this Agreement upon thirty
(30) days” prior written notice to Operator if City determines that Operator failed to have the
required TRCs or was delinquent in any tax payments required under the Tax Ordinances at the
time of entering into, extending the Term of, or renewing this Agreement. City may also
terminate this Agreement upon ninety (90) days prior written notice to Operator at any time
during the Term of this Agreement if Operator fails to maintain required TRCs or becomes
delinquent in tax payments required under the Tax Ordinances and Operator fails to cure such
deficiencies within the ninety (90) day period.

® Slavery Disclosure Ordinance. This Agreement is subject to the
applicable provisions of the Slavery Disclosure Ordinance (“SDO”) (Section 10.41, ef seq., of
the Los Angeles Administrative Code. Unless otherwise exempt in accordance with the
provision of the Ordinance, Operator certifies that it has complied with the applicable provisions
of the Ordinance. Under the provisions of Section 10.41.2(b) of the Los Angeles Administrative
Code, City has the authority, under appropriate circumstances, to terminate this Agreement and
otherwise pursue legal remedies that may be available to City if City determines that the
Operator failed to fully and accurately complete the SDO affidavit or otherwise violated any

provision of the SDO.

(w) Americans with Disabilities Act. Operator hereby certifies that the Center
will comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12101 ef seg., and its
implementing regulations during the term of this Agreement. Operator will provide reasonable
accommodations to allow qualified individuals with disabilities to have access to the Northeast
Animal Shelter and have the benefit of the Animal Welfare Services in accordance with the
provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act. Operator will not discriminate against
persons with disabilities nor against persons due to their relationship to or association with a
person with a disability. Any subcontract entered into by Operator, relating to this Agreement, to
the extent allowed hereunder, shall be subject to the provisions of this Section 8.2(m).

W) Contractor Responsibility Ordinance. This Agreement is subject to the
Contractor Responsibility Ordinance (“CRO”) (Section 10.40, er seq., of the Los Angeles
Administrative Code “LAAC”) and the rules and regulations promulgated pursuant thereto as
they may be updated. The CRO requires that, unless specific exemptions apply as specified in
LAAC 10.40.4(a), lessees or licensees of City property who render services on the leased or
licensed premises are covered by the CRO if any of the following applies: (1) the services are
rendered on premises at least a portion of which are visited by substantial numbers of the public
on a frequent basis, (2) any of the services could feasibly be performed by City employees if the
awarding authority had the requisite financial and staffing resources, or (3) designated
administrative agency of the City has determined in writing that coverage would further the
proprietary interests of the City. Lessees or licensees of City property who are not exempt
pursuant to LAAC 10.40.4 (a) or (b), unless subject to the CRO solely due to an amendment to
an existing lease or license, are required to have completed a questionnaire (“Questionnaire™)
signed under penalty of perjury designed to assist the City in determination that the lessee or
licensee is one that has the necessary quality, fitness and capacity to perform the work set forth
in the contract. All lessees or licensees of City property who are covered by the CRO, including



those subject to the CRO due to an amendment, are required to complete the following Pledge of
Compliance (“POC”):

(1) comply with all applicable federal state, and local laws and regulations in
the performance of the contract, including but not limited to laws regarding health and safety,
labor and employment, wage and hour, and licensing laws which affect employees;

2) notify the awarding authority within thirty (30) calendar days after
receiving notification that any government agency has initiated an investigation that may result
in a finding that the lessee or licensee did not comply with clause (1) of this Section 8.2(n) in the
performance of the lease or license;

3) notify the awarding authority within thirty (30) calendar days of all
findings by a government agency or court of competent jurisdiction that the lessee or licensee
has violated clause (1) of this Section 8.2(n) above in the performance of the lease or license;

“) ensure within thirty (30) days (or such shorter time as may be required by
the awarding authority) that subcontractors working on the lease or license submit a POC to the
awarding authority signed under penalty of perjury; and

(w) Operator shall:

(1) notify the awarding authority within thirty (30) calendar days after
receiving notification that any governmental agency has initiated an investigation that may result
in a finding that Operator did not comply with any applicable federal, state, or local law in the
performance of this Agreement, including but not limited to laws regarding health and safety,
labor and employment, wage and hour, and licensing laws which affect employees;

) notify the awarding authority within thirty (30) calendar days of receiving
notice of any findings by a government agency or court of competent jurisdiction that Operator
violated any applicable federal, state, or local law in the performance of this Agreement
including but not limited to laws regarding health and safety, labor and employment, wage and
hour, and licensing laws which affect employees; and

3 notify the awarding authority within thirty (30) calendar days of
becoming aware of any information regarding its subcontractors and investigations or findings
regarding the subcontractor’s violations of any applicable federal, state, or local law in the
performance of this Agreement, including but not limited to laws regarding health and safety,
labor and employment, wage and hour, and licensing laws which affect employees.

x) Updates of information contained in Operator’s responses to the
Questionnaire must be submitted to the awarding authority within thirty (30) days of any changes
to the responses if the change would affect Operator’s fitness and ability to continue performing
this Agreement. Notwithstanding the above, Operator shall not be required to provide updates to
the Questionnaire if Operator became subject to the CRO solely because of an amendment to the
original lease or license. Operator shall cooperate in any investigation pursuant to CRO by
providing such information as shall be requested by City. Operator agrees that City may keep
the identity of any complainant confidential. Operator shall ensure that subcontractors who



perform work on this Agreement abide by these same updating requirements including the
requirement to:

¢)) notify the awarding authority within thirty (30) calendar days after
receiving notification that any government agency has initiated an investigation which may result
in a finding that the subcontractor did not comply with any applicable federal, state, or local law
in the performance of this Agreement, including but not limited to laws regarding health and
safety, labor and employment, wage and hour, and licensing laws which affect employees; and

) notify the awarding authority within thirty (30) calendar days of all
findings by a government agency or court of competent jurisdiction that the subcontractor
violated any applicable federal, state, or local law in the performance of this Agreement,
including but not limited to laws regarding health and safety, labor and employment, wage and
hour, and licensing laws which affect employees.

The requirement that Operator provide Questionnaires and updates to
Questionnaire responses does not apply to subcontractors.

) If Operator is not exempt from the CRO, Operator shall comply with all
of the provisions of the CRO and this Agreement. Failure to comply with the provisions of the
CRO, including without limitation the requirements that all responses to the Questionnaire are
complete and accurate, to provide updates as provided therein and to correct any deficiencies
within ten (10) days of notice by City, or failure to comply with the provisions of this Agreement
shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement and City shall be entitled to terminate this
Agreement and otherwise pursue any legal remedies that may be available, including those set
forth in the CRO. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to extend the time periods or
limit the remedies provided in the CRO.

ARTICLE 9
INDEMNIFICATION

Indemnification by the Operator. Except for the active negligence or willful misconduct of City,
Operator undertakes and agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless City and any and all of
City’s boards, officers, agents, and employees from and against all suits and causes of action,
claims, losses, demands and expenses, including, but not limited to reasonable and necessary
attorney’s fees and cost of litigation, damage or liability of any nature whatsoever, that may arise
out of or in connection with Operator’s breach of this Agreement or the use of the Northeast
Valley Animal Shelter by Operator, its agents, employees, customers, or any other person using
or attending any of Operator’s projects or programs on the Premises. Such defense and
indemnification shall include any suits and causes of action, claims, losses, demands and
expenses, including, but not limited to reasonable and necessary attorney’s fees and cost of
litigation, damage or liability arising out of any violation of the Injunction by Operator. Said
indemnification obligation shall not apply to any effort by any party to modify the Injunction, to
amend claims in the current Injunction litigation insofar as these claims allege that entering into
this Agreement by the City is or should be considered a violation of the Injunction or to new



lawsuits relating to TNR unless resulting from Operator’s actions, nor shall it apply to the City’s
future CEQA determinations in any way related to TNR. Subject to the City’s approval, which
shall not be unreasonably withheld, Operator shall have the right to select counsel of its choice to
provide the City’s defense under this indemnification and defense provision.

Indemnification by the City. Except for the active negligence or willful misconduct of Operator,
the City shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Operator and each of its Representatives
from and against (i) any Losses actually suffered or incurred by Operator or any such
Representative, arising from any claims or lawsuits based upon, arising out of, occasioned by or
attributable to any failure by the City or its Representatives to comply with, observe or perform
any of the covenants, obligations, agreements, terms or conditions in this Agreement or arising
out of any breach of the City’s representations and warranties; or (ii) all suits and-causes of
action, claims, losses, demands and expenses, including, but not limited to reasonable and
necessary attorney’s fees and cost of litigation, damage or liability of any nature whatsoever, that
may arise out of or in connection with City’s operations in the Shelter as permitted by this
Agreement.

Agency for Representatives. Each of the City and Operator agrees that it accepts each indemnity
in favor of any of its Representatives, as agent and trustee of that Representative and agrees that
cach of the City and Operator may enforce an indemnity in favor of its Representatives on behalf
of that Representative.

Third Party Claims.

(a) Notice of Third Party Claim. If an Indemnified Party receives notice of
the commencement or assertion of any Third Party Claim, the Indemnified Party shall give the
Indemnifier reasonably prompt notice thereof, but in any event no later than 45 days after receipt
of such notice of such Third Party Claim. Such notice to the Indemnifier shall describe the Third
Party Claim in reasonable detail (and include a copy of any complaint or related documents) and
shall indicate, if reasonably practicable, the estimated amount of the Loss that has been or may
be sustained by the Indemnified Party.

(b) Defense of Third Party Claim. The Indemnifier may participate in or
assume the defense of any Third Party Claim by giving notice to that effect to the Indemnified
Party not later than 30 days after receiving notice of that Third Party Claim (the “Notice
Period”). The Indemnifier’s right to do so shall be subject to the rights of any insurer or other
Party who has potential liability in respect of that Third Party Claim. The Indemnifier agrees to
pay all of its own expenses of participating in or assuming each defense. The Indemnified Party
shall co-operate in good faith in the defense of each Third Party Claim, even if the defense has
been assumed by the Indemnifier and may participate in such defense assisted by counsel of its
own choice at its own expense. If the Indemnified Party has not received notice within the
Notice Period that the Indemnifier has elected to assume the defense of such Third Party Claim,
the Indemnified Party may assume such defense, assisted by counsel of its own choosing and the
Indemnifier shall be liable for all reasonable costs and expenses paid or incurred in connection
therewith and any Loss suffered or incurred by the Indemnified Party with respect to such Third
Party Claim.



(c) Assistance for Third Party Claims. The Indemnifier and the Indemnified
Party will use all reasonable efforts to make available to the Party which is undertaking and
controlling the defense of any Third Party Claim (the “Defending Party”), (i) those employees
whose assistance, testimony and presence is necessary to assist the Defending Party in evaluating
and in defending any Third Party Claim, and (ii) all documents, records and other materials in
the possession of such Party reasonably required by the Defending Party for its use in defending
any Third Party Claim, and shall otherwise co-operate with the Defending Party. The
Indemnifier shall be responsible for all reasonable expenses associated with making such
documents, records and materials available and for all expenses of any employees made
available by the Indemnified Party to the Indemnifier hereunder, which expense shall not exceed
the actual cost to the Indemnified Party associated with such employees.

Direct Claims. Any Direct Claim shall be asserted by giving the Indemnifier reasonably prompt
notice thereof, but in any event not later than 90 days after the Indemnified Party becomes aware
of such Direct Claim. The Indemnifier shall then have a period of 45 days within which to
respond in writing to such Direct Claim. If the Indemnifier does not so respond within such 45-
day period, the Indemnifier shall be deemed to have rejected such Claim, and in such event the
Indemnified Party may submit such Direct Claim to the dispute resolution process set forth in

Article 12,

Failure to Give Timely Notice. A failure to give timely notice in accordance with this Article 12
shall not affect the rights or obligations of any Party except and only to the extent that, as a result
of such failure, a Party which was entitled to receive such notice was deprived of its right to
recover any payment under its applicable insurance coverage or was otherwise directly and

materially damaged as a result of such failure,

Reductions and Subrogation. If the amount of any Loss incurred by an Indemnified Party at any
time subsequent to the making of an indemnity payment hereunder (an “Indemnity Payment™) is
reduced by any recovery, settlement or otherwise under or pursuant to any insurance coverage, or
pursuant to any claim, recovery, settlement or payment by or against any other Person, the
amount of such reduction (less any costs, expenses (including Taxes) or premiums incurred in
connection therewith), together with interest thereon from the date of payment thereof at the
Bank Rate, shall promptly be repaid by the Indemnified Party to the Indemnifier. Upon making
a full Indemnity Payment, the Indemnifier shall, to the extent of such Indemnity Payment, be
subrogated to all rights of the Indemnified Party against any third party in respect of the Loss to
which the Indemnity Payment relates. Until the Indemnified Party recovers full payment of its
Loss, any and all claims of the Indemnifier against any such third party on account of such
Indemnity Payment shall be postponed and subordinated in right of payment to the Indemnified

Party’s rights against such third party.

Payment and Interest. All amounts to be paid by an Indemnifier hereunder shall bear interest at a
rate per annum equal to the Bank Rate, calculated annually and payable monthly, both before
and after judgment, from the date that the Indemnified Party disbursed funds, suffered damages
or losses or incurred a loss, liability or expense in respect of a Loss for which the Indemnifier is
liable to make payment pursuant to this Article 9, to the date of payment by the Indemnifier to
the Indemnified Party.



Other Matters. To the extent permissible by applicable law, the Operator waives any limits to
the amount of its obligations to defend, indemnify, hold harmless or contribute to any sums due
under any Losses, including any claim by any employee of the Operator, that may be subject to
the provisions of Section 3700 et seq. of the California Labor Code or any other related law or
judicial decision.

Offset Rights; Limitations on Certain Damages.

(d) Any other provision herein notwithstanding, each Party’s obligations
under this Agreement are subject to, and each Party shall have the benefit of, all defenses,
counterclaims, rights of offset or recoupment or other claims and rights, including the right to
deduct payments due to the other Party hereunder (collectively, “Offsets”) which such Party may
have at any time against such other Party (or any of their respective successors and assigns) or
any transferee or assignee of any such other Party’s rights as against such Party or any part
thereof or interest therein, whether the claim or right of such Party relied upon for such purpose
is matured or unmatured, contingent or otherwise, and no transfer or assignment of this
Agreement or any other obligation of such other Party, or of any rights in respect thereof,
pursuant to any plan of reorganization or liquidation or otherwise shall affect or impair the
availability to each Party of the Offsets.

(e) In no event shall any Party be liable to the other Party under this
Agreement for consequential, indirect, exemplary or punitive damages (except for claims for
fraud or for intentional misrepresentation or intentional breach).

Survival. This Article 9 shall remain in full force and effect in all circumstances and shall not be
terminated by any breach (fundamental, negligent or otherwise) by any Party of its
representations, warranties or covenants hereunder or by any termination or rescission of this
Agreement by any Party.

ARTICLE 10
INSURANCE

Insurance Coverage Required. Operator shall provide and maintain at its own expense, or cause
to be maintained, during the Term and during any time period following expiration if Operator is
required to return and perform any additional work, the insurance coverage and requirements
specified below, which insurance amounts may be increased by the City’s Risk Manager,
insuring the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter and all Northeast Valley Animal Shelter
Operations (the “Regquired Coverage”).

General Liability Insurance. Operator shall provide and maintain general liability insurance in
an amount not Jess than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence, Five Million Dollars
($5,000,000) aggregate for bodily injury and property damage.

Automobile Liability Insurance. When any motor vehicles (owned, non-owned or hired) are
used in connection with this Agreement, Operator shall provide automobile liability insurance in
an amount not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per accident for bodily injury and
property damage.



Builder’s Risk Insurance. When Operator undertakes any construction, maintenance or repairs to
the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter, Operator shall provide and maintain all risk builder’s risk
insurance covering loss, damage or destruction of property, including materials in transit and
stored on and off site, in an amount equal to the value of construction and materials on hand.

Workers” Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance. By signing this Agreement,
Operator hereby certifies that it is aware of the provisions of Sections 3700, et seq., of the
California Labor Code which require every employer to be insured against liability for Workers’
Compensation or to undertake self-insurance in accordance with the provisions of that Code, and
that it will comply with such provisions at all such times as they may apply during the Term of
this Agreement. A Waiver of Subrogation in favor of City is required. Operator shall provide
and maintain workers’ compensation covering all employees who agree to provide a service
under this Agreement and employer’s liability insurance in an amount not less than $1,000,000

per accident for bodily injury or disease.

Additional Insureds /Additional Interest/Loss Payee. Operator agrees that City, its boards,
officers, agents and employees shall be included as:

a) Additional insureds in all required general liability and automobile
liability insurance.

b) Named insured in all required builder’s risk insurance.

c) Loss payee as its interests may appear in all required property insurance.

Operator’s Property. City will not insure Operator’s equipment, stored goods, other personal
property, fixtures, or Operator improvements, nor such personal property owned by Operator’s
sub-Operators or assignees, if any, or invitees. City shall not be required to repair any injury or
damage to any personal property or trade fixtures installed in the Northeast Valley Animal
Shelter by Operator caused by fire or other casualty, or to replace any such personal property or
trade fixtures. Operator may, at Operator’s sole option and expense, obtain physical damage
insurance covering Operator’s equipment, stored goods, personal property, fixtures or Operator
improvements or obtain business interruption insurance.

Notice of Change in Insurance. All insurance policies required under this Agreement shall
expressly provide that such insurance shall not be cancelled or materially reduced in coverage or
limits except after thirty (30) days’ (ten (10) days for non-payment of premium) written notice
has been given to City Administrative Officer, Risk Management, City Hall East, Room 1240,
200 North Main Street, Los Angeles, California 90012,

Default. If insurance is canceled, lapsed, or reduced below minimums required in this
Article 10, City may consider this Agreement to be in default and may terminate it. Termination
shall occur at the expiration of a three (3) day notice given in accordance with the provisions of
the Code of Civil Procedure Section 1162. At the termination of three (3) days or sooner, the
Operator shall vacate the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter and Operator shall have no right to
possess or control the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter or the operations conducted therein. If
Operator does not vacate, City may utilize any and all court proceedings to obtain a right to

possession.




Adjustment of Insurance Levels. The City reserves the right at any time during the Term or any
extension or holdover of this Agreement, applying generally accepted risk management
principles, to change the amounts and types of insurance required hereunder upon giving
Operator ninety (90) days prior written notice in order to insure that Operator is maintaining
customary and reasonable insurance amounts and types during the Term of the Agreement. In the
event the City determines that additional insurance or amounts are required, the City will allow
Operator to adjust the Maximum Fee Schedule (Schedule X) proportionately.

Waiver of Subrogation. With respect to property damage, each Party agrees to waive its rights of
subrogation for any claim applicable to the California Standard Fire Policy with Extended
Coverage and Vandalism and Malicious Mischief endorsements.

Admitted Carrier/Licensed California Broker. All insurance must be provided by an insurer
admitted to do business in California or written through a California-licensed surplus lines
broker or through an insurer otherwise acceptable to the City.

Contribution Not Required. Operator’s insurance shall be primary and will not require
contribution or shall be endorsed to effect these provisions.

Separation of Insureds. Except with respect to the insurance company’s limits of liability, each
liability insurance policy shall apply separately to each insured against whom a claim or suit is
brought. The inclusion of any person or organization as an insured shall not affect any right such
person or organization would have as a claimant if not so included.

Insurance Approval. All insurance required hereunder shall conform to the City requirements
established by Charter, ordinance or policy. Evidence of Insurance shall be approved by the
Office of the Administrative Officer, Risk Management prior to tenancy under this Agreement in
accordance with the Los Angeles Administrative Code.

Evidence of Insurance. Electronic submission via Track4LA®, the City’s online insurance
compliance system (http://trackdla lacity.org), is the preferred method for submitting evidence of
insurance. Track4LA® can be used by insurance brokers and agents to submit Operator
insurance certificates directly to the City using the ACORD 25 Certificate of Liability Insurance
in electronic format. Insurance Industry Certificates of Insurance other than the ACORD 25 may
also be accepted. However all Certificates must provide a thirty (30) days’ notice provision (ten
(10) days for non-payment of premium) and an Additional Insured Endorsement naming the City
an additional insured completed by Operator’s insurance company or its designee. If the policy
includes an automatic or blanket additional insured endorsement, the Insurance Certificate must
state that the City is an automatic or blanket additional insured. An endorsement naming the
City as an insured is required on all builders’ risk policies. An endorsement naming the City as
Loss Payee as its Interest may appear is required on all property coverages. Alternatively,
Operator may submit a copy of the full insurance policy containing language which complies
with the requirements of this Article 10. Additional Insured Endorsements do not apply to the
following: Indication of compliance with statute, such as Workers’ Compensation Law.




ARTICLE 11
DISPUTE RESOLUTION

Scope. Any dispute arising out of, relating to, or in connection with this Agreement shall be
resolved as set forth in this Article 11.

Informal Dispute Resolution Procedures. The Parties shall attempt in good faith to resolve such
dispute within 15 days following receipt by the other Party of notice of such dispute. If the
Parties are unable to resolve the dispute within such 15-day period, and upon notice by either
Party to the other, the dispute shall be referred to the Designated Senior Person of each Party.
The Designated Senior Persons shall negotiate in good faith to resolve the dispute, conferring as
often as they deem reasonably necessary. Statements made by representatives of the Parties
during the dispute resolution procedures set forth in this Section 11.2 and documents specifically
prepared for such dispute resolution procedures shall be considered part of settlement
negotiations and shall not be admissible as evidence in any arbitration or other litigation
proceeding between or involving the Parties without the mutual written consent of the Parties.

Non-Binding Mediation. Non-binding mediation of a dispute under this Agreement may not be
commenced until the earlier of: (i) such time as both of the Designated Senior Persons, after
following the procedures set forth in Section 11.2, conclude in good faith that amicable
resolution through continued negotiation of the matter does not appear likely; or (ii) 15 days after
the notice referring the dispute to the Designated Senior Persons, pursuant to Section 11.2. If,
after such time period, the dispute remains unresolved, the Parties shall attempt to resolve the
dispute through non-binding mediation administered by the American Arbitration Association
(“AAA”) under its Commercial Mediation Procedures.

Provisional Remedies. No Party shall be precluded from initiating a proceeding in a court of
competent jurisdiction for the purpose of obtaining any emergency or provisional remedy to
protect its rights that may be necessary and that is not otherwise available under this Agreement,
including temporary and preliminary injunctive relief and restraining orders and the appointment
of a receiver or receiver and manager in connection with the collection and retention of Other

Operator Revenues.

ARTICLE 12
DEFAULTS

Default by the Operator.

(a) Events of Default. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events during the
Term shall constitute an “Operator Default” under this Agreement:

(i)  if Operator knowingly engages in TNR activities prohibited by this Agreement, as part of
its operations in the Northeast Animal Valley Shelter only and not in its other operations, and
such activities are determined by a court of law to be a violation of the Injunction; or

(i)  if Operator fails to comply with, perform or observe any material obligation, covenant,
agreement, term or condition in this Agreement, and such failure continues and is not remedied



for a period of thirty (30) calendar Days following notice thereof (giving particulars of the failure
in reasonable detail) from the City to Operator or for such longer period as may be reasonably
necessary to cure such failure, provided, in the latter case, that Operator has demonstrated to the
satisfaction of the City, acting reasonably, that (A) it is proceeding, and will proceed, with all
due diligence to cure or cause to be cured such failure, (B) its actions can be reasonably expected
to cure or cause to be cured such failure within a reasonable period of time acceptable to the
City, acting reasonably and (C) such failure is in fact cured within such period of time; or

(iii)  if Operator (A) admits, in writing, that it is unable to pay its debts as such become due,
(B) makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, (C) files a voluntary petition under Title 11
of the U.S. Code, or if such petition is filed against it and an order for relief is entered, or if the
Operator files any petition or answer seeking, consenting to or acquiescing in any reorganization,
arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution or similar relief under the
present or any future U.S. bankruptcy code or any other present or future applicable Law, or
shall seek or consent to or acquiesce in or suffer the appointment of any trustee, receiver,
custodian, assignee, sequestrator, liquidator or other similar official of Operator or of all or any
substantial part of its properties or of the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter or any interest therein,
or (D) takes any corporate action in furtherance of any action described in this Section 12.1(a);

(b) Remedies of the City upon Operator Default. Upon the occurrence of an Operator
Default, the City may, by notice to Operator in accordance with the terms hereof, declare
Operator to be in default and may, subject to the provisions of Article 11, do any or all of the
following as the City, in its discretion, shall determine:

(i)  if Operator Default is by reason of the failure to pay any monies to third parties, the City
may (without obligation to do so) make payment on behalf of Operator of such monies, and any
amount so paid by the City shall be payable by Operator to the City within 10 Business Days
after demand therefor;

(i)  the City may seek specific performance, injunction or other equitable remedies, it being
acknowledged that damages are an inadequate remedy for an Operator Default;

(iii)  the City may seek to recover its Losses arising from such Operator Default and any
amounts due and payable under this Agreement and, in connection therewith, exercise any
recourse available to any Person who is owed damages or a debt;

(iv)  with respect to those Operator Defaults that entitle the City to terminate this Agreement
pursuant to Section 12.1(b)(i) or (ii), the City may terminate Operator’s right of possession of the
Northeast Valley Animal Shelter, and in such event, the City or the City’s agents and servants
may immediately or at any time thereafter re-enter the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter and
remove all Persons and all or any property therefrom, by any available action under law or
proceeding at law or in equity, and with or without terminating this Agreement, and repossess
and enjoy the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter; provided, however, that no reentry by the City
shall be construed as an election on its part to terminate this Agreement unless a notice of such
intention is given to Operator; provided further that any re-entry or termination of this
Agreement made in accordance with this Agreement as against Operator shall be valid and
effective against Operator;



(v)  the City may, subject to applicable Law, seize and hold any of Operator’s goods situated
on the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter and Operator waives any statutory protections and
exemptions in connection therewith; and

(vi)  the City may exercise any of its other rights and remedies provided for hereunder or at
law or equity.

[Intentionally Left Blank]



ARTICLE 13
MISCELLANEOUS

Notice. All notices and demands which may or are to be required or permitted to be given by
either Party to the other hereunder shall be in writing. All notices and demands shall be
personally delivered (including by means of professional messenger service), sent by United
States registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, or transmitted by
telecopier (e.g., Fax), in which case the receiving Party shall immediately confirm receipt of such
notice. All notices are effective upon receipt. For the purposes of such notices, the addresses for
the parties are set forth in Section 13.2 below. Either Party may from time to time designate
another Person or place in a notice.

Notices - Where Sent. All notices given under this Agreement which are mailed or telecopied
shall be addressed to the respective parties as follows:

To City: with a copy of any notice to:
City of Los Angeles Office of the City Attorney
Brenda Barnette -Real Property Division
221 N. Figueroa St, 6™ Floor City Hall East, Room 701
Los Angeles, California 90012 200 North Main Street
Telecopier: (213) 482-9511 Los Angeles, California 90012
Telecopier: (213) 978-8090
To Operator: with a copy to:
Best Friend Animal Society Best Friend Animal Society
Attn: Gregory Castle, CEO 15321 Brand Boulevard
5001 Angel Canyon Road Mission Hills, CA 91345

Kanab, UT 84741

Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including all schedules and exhibits hereto, constitutes the
entire agreement between the Parties pertaining to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all
prior agreements, negotiations, discussions and understandings, written or oral, between the
Parties. There are no representations, warranties, conditions or other agreements, whether direct
or collateral, or express or implied, that form part of or affect this Agreement, or that induced
any Party to enter into this Agreement or on which reliance is placed by any Party, except as
specifically set forth in this Agreement. The Parties acknowledge and agree that (i) each has
substantial business experience and is fully acquainted with the provisions of this Agreement,
(i) the provisions and language of this Agreement have been fully negotiated and (iii) no
provision of this Agreement shall be construed in favor of any Party or against any Party by
reason of such provision of this Agreement having been drafted on behalf of one Party rather
than the other.



Agent for Service of Notice and Process. Operator shall designate an agent located within the
County of Los Angeles, State of California, for service of legal process.

Amendment. This Agreement may be amended, changed or supplemented only by a written
agreement signed by the Parties.

Waiver of Rights. Any waiver of, or consent to depart from, the requirements of any provision
of this Agreement shall be effective only if it is in writing and signed by the Party giving it, and
only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which it has been given. No failure
on the part of any Party to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right under this Agreement
shall operate as a waiver of such right. No single or partial exercise of any such right shall
preclude any other or further exercise of such right or the exercise of any other right.

Severability. Each provision of this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest
extent permitted by applicable Law. The invalidity of any one or more phrases, sentences,
clauses or sections contained in this Agreement shall not affect the remaining portions of this
Agreement or any part thereof. If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to
any Person or circumstances is held or deemed to be or determined to be invalid, inoperative or
unenforceable in any particular case in any particular jurisdiction or jurisdictions because it
conflicts with any other provision or provisions hereof or of any applicable Law, or public
policy, or for any other reason, (i) such circumstances shall not have the effect of rendering the
provision in question inoperative or unenforceable in any other case or circumstances, or
rendering any other provision or provisions herein contained invalid, inoperative or
unenforceable to any extent whatever, and (ii) the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to amend
this Agreement to implement the provisions set forth herein.-

Reservation of Mineral Rights. City hereby reserves all right, title, and interest in any and all
gas, oil, minerals, and water beneath the Northeast Valley Animal Shelter.

No Partnership or Third Party Beneficiaries. Except as expressly provided herein to the contrary,
nothing contained in this Agreement shall constitute or be deemed to create a partnership, joint
venture or principal and agent relationship between the City and Operator, nor shall any term or
provision hereof be construed in any way to grant, convey or create any rights or interests to any
Person not a Party to this Agreement.

Governing Law. This Agreement shall be govermed by, and interpreted and enforced in
accordance with, the laws of the State of California.

Submission to Jurisdiction. Subject to Article 11, any action or proceeding against Operator or
the City relating in any way to this Agreement may be brought and enforced in the Federal Court
of the Central District of California or the Superior Court of the County of Los Angeles, State of
California. Operator and City hereby irrevocably submit to the jurisdiction of said courts with
regard to any such action or proceeding, and irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted
by applicable Law, any objection it may have now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any
such action or proceeding in said court and any claim that any such action or proceeding brought
in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. Service of process on the City
may be made only by personal delivery on the City Clerk or Deputy City Clerk of the City with



courtesy copies sent in accordance with Sections 13.1 and 13.2. Service of process on Operator
may be made either by registered or certified mail addressed as provided for in Section 13.1 or
by delivery to Operator’s registered agent for service of process in the State of California. If
Operator is presented with a request for Documents by any administrative agency or with a
subpoena duces tecum regarding any Documents which may be in its possession by reason of
this Agreement, Operator shall give prompt notice to the City Attorney of the City. The City
may contest such process by any means available to it before such Documents are submitted to a
court or other third party; provided, however, that Operator shall not be obligated to withhold
such delivery beyond that time as may be ordered by the court or administrative agency or
required by Law, unless the subpoena or request is quashed or the time to produce is otherwise
extended.

Further Acts. The Parties shall do or cause to be done all such further acts and things as may be
reasonably necessary or desirable to give full effect to this Agreement. Without limiting the
foregoing, each Party will, at any time and from time to time, execute and deliver or cause to be
executed and delivered such further instruments and take such further actions as may be
reasonably requested by the other Party in order to cure any defect in the execution and/or
delivery of this Agreement.

Costs. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, each Party shall be responsible for its
own costs and expenses incurred in connection with performing and observing its obligations
and covenants under this Agreement.

Counterparts; Facsimile Execution. This Agreement may be executed in any number of
counterparts which, taken together, shall constitute one and the same agreement. This
Agreement shall be effective when it has been executed by each Party and delivered to all
Parties. To evidence the fact that it has executed this Agreement, a Party may send a copy of its
executed counterpart to the other Party by facsimile transmission. Such Party shall be deemed to
have executed and delivered this Agreement on the date it sent such facsimile transmission. In
such event, such Party shall forthwith deliver to the other Party an original counterpart of this
Agreement executed by such Party.

[Intentionally Left Blank]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Agreement to be duly executed on its
behalf by the General Manager of the Department of Animal Services pursuant to due
authorization of the City Council and Operator has caused this Agreement to be duly executed
pursuant to due authorization by its Board. If the space provided in Section 1.1 of this
Agreement is blank, such date shall be entered in such space, although such date shall be deemed
to be the date of this Agreement in any case.

CITY OF LOS ANGELES, a municipal corporation,

By:
BRENDA BARNETTE
General Manager, Department of Animal Services

Date:

BEST FRIENDS ANIMAL SOCIETY, a tax-exempt non-profit animal welfare,

By:

GREGORY CASTLE

Chief Executive Officer

Date:

APPROVED AS TO FORM: ATTEST:

MICHAEL N. FEUER, City Attorney HOLLY L. WOLCOTT, City Clerk
By: By:

Date: Date:

City Business License Number

IRS Taxpayer Identification Number

City Contract Number
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